## Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Rewetted Extracted Peatlands in Sweden

Sabine Jordan

Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Soil and Environment Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2016 Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae 2016:102

Cover: Aerial photograph of the Västkärr peatland (constructed lake and peat extraction area) in the lagg area of Skagerhultamossen (Photo: Hasselfors Garden)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-8707-4 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-8708-1 © 2016 Sabine Jordan, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2016

## Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Rewetted Extracted Peatlands in Sweden

#### Abstract

Peat extraction for horticultural purposes and energy production has a long tradition in Northern Europe. Related drainage activities directly affect the greenhouse gas (GHG) balance due to oxidative peat decomposition and denitrification, with concomitant emissions of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) and nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O). Rewetting, i.e. raising of the water table, is one after-use and restoration objective. Rewetting transforms an extracted peatland with aerobic soil conditions into a wetland with prevailing anaerobic conditions and can thus create suitable conditions for peat-forming plants, which could restore carbon (C) storage functions. Studies on GHG emissions from extracted peatlands after rewetting are limited. In general, peatland rewetting decreases emissions of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O, while methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) emissions may increase. More data are needed on GHG emissions from extracted peatlands over longer periods after rewetting and from corresponding studies about constructed water bodies and their vegetated littoral zones, which have been identified as high CH<sub>4</sub> emitters.

Studies were investigated how typical peatland ecotopes and vegetation communities created after rewetting affected  $CO_2$ ,  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  emissions. Specific objectives were to determine the relationships between GHG emission fluxes and water conditions, soil/water temperature and vegetation cover. GHG emission fluxes were measured in two rewetted extracted peatlands in Sweden using manual opaque and automated transparent chambers for discontinuous and continuous measurements, respectively.

The overall climate impact of  $CH_4$  emissions from the study areas did in general not exceed the impact of soil and plant respiration and neither the net  $CO_2$  flux during summer. But, GHG emissions could vary between years and sites can shift from sinks to sources. In regards to management of extracted peatlands, the construction of shallow lakes showed great potential for lowering GHG fluxes to the atmosphere.

With continuous measurements a derivation of long-term gas balances can be achieved and short-term changes in environmental conditions influencing GHG exchanges can be detected more effectively as with discontinuous measurements, such as by vial sampling. But still, a correct indication of all GHG fluxes, e.g. for GHG upscaling purposes or national emission inventories, is strongly based on the correct estimation of all C fluxes including ebullition.

Keywords: ebullition, greenhouse gases, mire restoration, peat chemistry, peatland

*Author's address:* Sabine Jordan, SLU, Department of Soil and Environment, P.O. Box 7014, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* sabine.jordan@ slu.se

## Dedication

Für meine Familie.

Für Silke.

Aus der Mühle schaut der Müller, Der so gerne mahlen will. Stiller wird der Wind und stiller, Und die Mühle stehet still.

So geht's immer, wie ich finde, Rief der Müller voller Zorn. Hat man Korn, so fehlt's am Winde, Hat man Wind, so fehlt das Korn.

Wilhelm Busch

## Contents

| List | of Publications   | 7  |
|------|---|----|
| Abbr | reviations  | 9  |
| 1    | Introduction  | 11 |
| 2    | Objectives and structure of the thesis                        | 13 |
| 3    | Background  | 15 |
| 3.1  | Undisturbed mires   | 15 |
|      | 3.1.1 Carbon dioxide  | 15 |
|      | 3.1.2 Methane   | 16 |
|      | 3.1.3 Nitrogen  | 16 |
| 3.2  | Drained mires   | 17 |
| 3.3  | Rewetted peatlands  | 18 |
| 3.4  | GHG measurement techniques                                    | 19 |
| 4    | Material and methods  | 21 |
| 4.1  | Study sites   | 21 |
|      | 4.1.1 The nutrient-poor Porla peatland (Papers I, II & IV)    | 21 |
|      | 4.1.2 The nutrient-rich Västkärr peatland (Papers I & III)    | 23 |
| 4.2  | Peat and water sampling (Paper I)                             | 25 |
| 4.3  | GHG measurements  | 26 |
|      | 4.3.1 Nutrient-poor Porla peatland (Papers II & IV)           | 26 |
|      | 4.3.2 Nutrient-rich Västkärr peatland (Paper III)             | 28 |
|      | 4.3.3 Determination of gas fluxes to the atmosphere for       |    |
|      | manual opaque closed champers with non-continuous             | 20 |
|      | determination of $CO_2$ , $CH_4$ and $N_2O$ (Papers II & III) | 29 |
| 4.4  | Statistical analyses  | 31 |
| 5    | Results and discussions                                       | 33 |
| 5.1  | From peat extraction areas to shallow lakes – after-use       |    |
|      | of industrial peat sites (Paper I)                            | 33 |
| 5.2  | Ecosystem respiration and $CH_4$ and $N_2O$ fluxes to the     |    |
|      | atmosphere (Papers II & III)                                  | 34 |
|      | 5.2.1 The nutrient-poor Porla peatland (Paper II)             | 35 |
|      | 5.2.2 The nutrient-rich Västkärr peatland (Paper III)         | 37 |
|      |   |    |

| 5.3              | Automated transparent and manual opaque chambers with          |    |  |  |  |  |  |
|------------------|--|----|--|--|--|--|--|
|                  | continuous determination of $CO_2$ and $CH_4$ (Paper IV)       | 45 |  |  |  |  |  |
|                  | 5.3.1 $CO_2$ and $CH_4$ emissions from several ecotopes in the |    |  |  |  |  |  |
|                  | nutrient-poor Porla peatland during summer 2015                | 45 |  |  |  |  |  |
|                  | 5.3.2 Visual inspection of short-term events: ebullition       | 47 |  |  |  |  |  |
|                  |  |    |  |  |  |  |  |
| 6                | Conclusions and recommendations                                | 51 |  |  |  |  |  |
| 7                | Sammanfattning (Swodich summary)                               | 53 |  |  |  |  |  |
| '                | Sammanattining (Swedish Summary)                               | 55 |  |  |  |  |  |
| Refe             | rences   | 55 |  |  |  |  |  |
|                  |  |    |  |  |  |  |  |
| Acknowledgements |  |    |  |  |  |  |  |

## List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Lars Lundin, Torbjörn Nilsson, Sabine Jordan, Elve Lode, Monika Strömgren (2016). Impacts of rewetting on peat, hydrology and water chemical composition over 15 years in two finished peat extraction areas in Sweden (submitted manuscript).
- II Sabine Jordan, Monika Strömgren, Jan Fiedler, Lars Lundin, Elve Lode & Torbjörn Nilsson (2016). Ecosystem respiration, methane and nitrous oxide fluxes from ecotopes in a rewetted extracted peatland in Sweden. *Mires and Peat* 17(7), 1-23.
- III Sabine Jordan, Monika Strömgren, Elve Lode, Jan Fiedler, Lars Lundin & Torbjörn Nilsson (2016). Ecosystem respiration, methane and nitrous oxide emission fluxes along water level gradients in the littoral zones of constructed water bodies in a rewetted extracted peatland in Sweden (manuscript).
- IV Sabine Jordan, Monika Strömgren, Jan Fiedler, Kristina Mjöfors, Elve Lode, Lars Lundin, Torbjörn Nilsson. Continuous carbon dioxide and methane flux measurements from the shore of a shallow lake in a rewetted extracted peatland in Sweden (manuscript).

Paper II is reproduced with the permission of the publisher.

The contribution of Sabine Jordan to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Co-author. Contribution to field work; contribution to data analysis; contribution to writing of the paper.
- II Main author. Field work with assistance from all co-authors; data analyses with assistance from the second and third author; writing of the paper with assistance from the co-authors.
- III Main author. Field work with assistance from all co-authors; data analyses with assistance from the second, third and fourth author; writing of the paper with assistance from the co-authors.
- IV Main author. Planning of the study together with the second author; field work together with the second and third author; contribution to data analyses; visual data inspection with assistance from the third author; writing of the paper with assistance from the co-authors.

## Abbreviations

| Ca <sub>tot</sub>  | Total calcium                       |
|--------------------|-------------------------------------|
| C <sub>tot</sub>   | Total carbon                        |
| DOC                | Dissolved organic carbon            |
| (g)                | Gaseous                             |
| GHG                | Greenhouse gas, greenhouse gases    |
| IRGA               | Infra-red gas analyser              |
| K <sub>tot</sub>   | Total potassium                     |
| Mg <sub>tot</sub>  | Total magnesium                     |
| NH <sub>4</sub> -N | Nitrogen bound in ammonium          |
| NO <sub>3</sub> -N | Nitrogen bound in nitrate           |
| N <sub>tot</sub>   | Total nitrogen                      |
| P <sub>tot</sub>   | Total phosphorus                    |
| PVC                | Polyvinylchloride                   |
| PO <sub>4</sub> -P | Phosphorus bound in ortho-phosphate |
| S <sub>tot</sub>   | Total sulphur                       |

### 1 Introduction

Peatlands are the most widespread of all wetland types globally. They account for approximately 3 % of the earth's land and freshwater surface (Succow & Joosten 2001, Joosten & Clarke 2002, Franzén 2006) but contain up to 30 % of the global soil carbon (C) due to sedentary peat accumulation (Bragazza *et al.* 2006, Limpens *et al.* 2008). To be defined as peat a soil has to consist of at least 30 % (dry mass) of dead plant (organic) material (Göttlich 1990).

Boreal and subarctic peatlands cover considerable areas in the northern hemisphere (Montanarella *et al.* 2006). For example, Sweden's total area of peatlands is about  $10^6$  ha (Päivänen & Hånell 2012), resulting in  $95 \times 10^{12}$  m<sup>3</sup> of peat resources (excluding protected areas). Of that amount, approximately  $8 \times 10^{12}$  m<sup>3</sup> of peat are potentially available for extraction because those peatlands are already drained (Hånell *et al.* 2008).

Peat extraction for horticultural purposes and energy production has a long tradition in Northern Europe and typically can take place in a peatland over a 20-year period. In Sweden, annual extraction for energy and horticultural peat was amounted to  $2-3 \times 10^6$  m<sup>3</sup> and  $1-2 \times 10^6$  m<sup>3</sup>, respectively, between 1992 and 2012 (Päivänen & Hånell 2012).

When peat extraction ceases, one of several post-use alternatives of the area is rewetting (Quinty & Rochefort 1997, 2003; Blankenburg & Tonnis (eds.) 2004), i.e. raising the water level, in order to mitigate climate change, water pollution and loss of biodiversity (Hiraishi *et al. (eds.)* 2014). Rewetting transforms an extracted peatland with aerobic soil conditions into a wetland with prevailing anaerobic conditions and can thus create suitable conditions for peat-forming plants, which could restore C storage functions and biodiversity (Joosten & Clarke 2002, Rochefort *et al.* 2003, Strack & Zuback 2013) in a man-made landscape.

The changes in soil water conditions, and thus soil chemistry and vegetation development after rewetting, affect the greenhouse gas (GHG) balance. In

general, peatland restoration by rewetting decreases the  $CO_2$  and  $N_2O$  fluxes to the atmosphere, while  $CH_4$  fluxes to the atmosphere may increase (e.g. Couwenberg 2009, Wilson *et al.* 2016b). Some studies show that nutrient-poor peatlands could turn into GHG net sinks, but that nutrient-rich peatlands could still be net GHG emitters (Silvan *et al.* 2005, Glatzel *et al.* 2008, Höper *et al.* 2008), this means that rewetting does not necessarily result in lower GHG fluxes to the atmosphere (Joosten & Clarke 2002).

Numerous studies on various peatland types in the Nordic countries have characterised GHG fluxes to the atmosphere (Maljanen *et al.* 2010), including emissions from rewetted peatlands after peat extraction (e.g. Tuittila *et al.* 2000, Wilson *et al.* 2013 & 2016a, Strack *et al.* 2016). However, there has only been a limited amount of research on GHG fluxes from different ecotopes and vegetation communities such as constructed lakes, non-vegetated bare peat, newly established *Sphagnum* spp. and vegetated shore and littoral zones created by rewetting and in different time scales post-rewetting.

### 2 Objectives and structure of the thesis

In this thesis, studies were conducted in which GHG emission<sup>1</sup> fluxes (ISO 4225; IUPAC 2006) were measured in two rewetted extracted peatlands in Sweden. This was done using opaque manual chambers (CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O; Papers II & III) and transparent automated chambers (CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>; Paper IV).

The main aim of the thesis was to investigate the effects of rewetting on GHG emissions. A secondary aim was to determine the impacts of rewetting impacts on hydrology and on soil and water chemistry in extracted peatlands. Therefore, studies on peat, hydrology and water chemical composition before and after rewetting were combined in Paper I. The resulting data on the physical geography of the study sites set the framework for this thesis (Figure 1).

Subsequent studies involving GHG measurements (Papers II-IV) investigated how typical peatland ecotopes and vegetation communities created after rewetting affected  $CO_2$ ,  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  emissions. Specific objectives were to determine the relationships between GHG emission fluxes and water conditions, soil/water temperature and vegetation cover, by:

- Quantifying CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes to the atmosphere in various ecotopes of a nutrient-poor peatland, such as vegetation-covered, bare peat and open water, and comparing these fluxes against those from a nearby open poor fen not subject to peat extraction (Paper II)
- Investigating and quantifying GHG emission fluxes along water level gradients from littoral zones of constructed shallow lakes with wetland and non-wetland type vegetation zones in a nutrient-rich peatland, in order to determine whether CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emission fluxes differ from the

<sup>1.</sup> Emission in atmospheric chemistry is defined as discharge of substances into the atmosphere (ISO 4225, IUPAC 2006). Net emission expresses the balance of emission and uptake (deposition, photosynthesis).

rather dry vegetated shore with *Graminoids*, over the littoral zone with *Carex* spp. and *Typha latifolia* to the open water without vegetation; and how these fluxes change following short-term inundation events and seasonal droughts (Paper III)

Investigating net CO<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>4</sub> flux dynamics during summer and detecting short-term events such as ebullition (non-diffusive emissions) (Paper IV).



Figure 1. Illustration of the different study sites and measurement techniques included in the thesis (Photos: Sabine Jordan).

### Rewetted extracted peatlands

## 3 Background

### 3.1 Undisturbed mires

The requirements for a peat accumulation process on a site are peat-forming vegetation, such as *Sphagnum* spp., *Phragmites* spp. or *Carex* spp., a surplus of water, meaning a positive water balance, and a peat accumulation rate that outweighs peat decomposition, meaning a positive mass balance. A contributing factor in peat accumulation is low ambient temperature, where the speed of most physical, chemical and biological processes slows and there is no or very low activity of the microorganisms responsible for decomposition of plant material. In general, in reducing conditions (anoxic environment) peatlands act as accumulators, buffers, transformers and filters for nutrients and water. They are thus substance sinks in the landscape (Nykänen *et al.* 1995) and help in mitigating climate warming (Joosten & Clarke 2002, Strack (ed.) 2008) through the sequestration of atmospheric  $CO_2$  as C in the peat matrix.

### 3.1.1 Carbon dioxide

The carbon cycling processes, pools and fluxes in sediments, wetlands and peatlands are outlined in many publications (Gorham 1991, Houghton 1997, Mitsch & Gosselink 2000, Blodau 2002, Whalen 2005, Blodau *et al.* 2007, Jahn *et al.* 2010).

Since photosynthesis and aerobic respiration take place in the aerobic soil horizons, those two processes are effective in terms of energy transfer between soil, water and atmosphere and thus in build-up and degradation of organic matter. Soil respiration can be divided into autotrophic respiration (by plants) and heterotrophic respiration (by microbes, microfauna and fungi). The latter is responsible for decomposition of soil organic matter and the conversion of soil C into  $CO_2$  (Mäkilä & Goslar 2008).

### 3.1.2 Methane

In wetlands and in anaerobic horizons of peatlands, the degradation of organic matter is performed by anaerobic respiration by microbes in the form of fermentation and methanogenesis. Fermentation, also called glycolysis, can be carried out by either facultative or obligate anaerobes. Alcohols (e.g. ethanol), low-molecular-weight acids (such as lactic acid and acetate), DOC,  $CO_2$  and  $H_2$  are fermentation end products (Ferry 1992).

Methanogenesis, which is carried out by methanogenic *archaea* (methanogens), is the final step in the degradation of organic matter, after nitrogen (N), manganese (Mn), iron (Fe) and sulphur (S) have been reduced. To convert the organic matter itself into low-molecular-weight organic compounds and  $CO_2$  into  $CH_4$ , a redox potential below -200 mV is required. Peatlands in natural conditions (mire) are characterised by a subsurface, anaerobic zone of  $CH_4$  production by methanogenic bacteria and a superficial, aerobic zone of  $CH_4$  oxidation by methanotrophic bacteria (Whalen 2005).

Acetic acid (acetate = derivate of acetic acid) is very common in the environment and can undergo a dismutation reaction to produce CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> simultaneously. In many studies (Whiticar et al. 1986, Ferry 1992, Conrad 1999, Keller & Bridgham 2007), the general claim is made that most CH<sub>4</sub> originates from the methyl group of acetate and only a smaller pool originates from the reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> with H<sub>2</sub>. The process of aceticlastic methanogenesis, *i.e.* the conversion of acetate to CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>, has not been studied as extensively as the reduction of  $CO_2$  to  $CH_4$  (autotrophic methanogenesis) (Ferry 1992, Keller & Bridgham 2007). Some studies report that aceticlastic methanogenesis is more important in fens (Keller & Bridgham 2007, Galand et al. 2010) whereas autotrophic methanogenesis is dominant in bogs (Duddleston et al. 2002, Horn et al. 2003). Keller & Bridgham (2007) attributed the dominance of aceticlastic methanogenesis during the growing season to high acetate concentrations due to the presence of root exudates, whereas the proportion of CH<sub>4</sub> production that originates from CO<sub>2</sub> reduction increases with depth as labile root exudates become less available. Liberation of CH<sub>4</sub> can occur from saturated peat horizons via diffusion, gas bubbles (ebullition) and by plant-mediated transport in vascular plants such as Phragmites or Carex (Bastviken et al. 2004, Lai 2009).

### 3.1.3 Nitrogen

Carbon mineralisation rate may be influenced by N concentrations in the litter of *Sphagnum* spp. (Blodau 2002). The main N inputs to peatland are deposition from atmosphere,  $N_2$  fixation by bacteria and algae and N inflow through upland runoff or discharge. The main N pool in peatlands is in the peat material

itself, with a minor proportion stored in living organisms. Other pools are represented by vascular plants, *Sphagnum* spp. and other mosses, microbes and pore water (Limpens *et al.* 2006). The N content of the organic matter and its degradability strongly affect the availability of inorganic N for N<sub>2</sub>O formation via nitrification and denitrification and thus the extent of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (von Arnold *et al.* 2005, Glatzel *et al.* 2008). *Sphagnum* spp. litter becomes more easily decomposed when N deposition and N content increase (Limpens & Berendse 2003, Bragazza *et al.* 2006). Limpens *et al.* (2008) concluded that N deposition at rates around 1-1.5 gm<sup>-2</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> generally increases vascular plant cover, and thus increases CH<sub>4</sub> emissions through aerenchymatic tissue, while decreasing *Sphagnum* spp. cover.

The GHG balance of a mire or a peatland is controlled by the relative rates of net  $CO_2$  uptake and efflux and  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  emissions but, depending on climate, local and regional site characteristics, such as the position of the average water table (Alm *et al.* 2007), GHG emissions can vary between years with the function of the peatland changing from sink to source. From their initial formation, peatlands continuously take up and release GHGs. This fact should be borne in mind when discussing the status of mires and peatlands in atmospheric GHG balances (Strack (ed.) 2008).

### 3.2 Drained mires

Population pressure, need for food, fodder, fuel and raw material production let mire reclamation measures already start in the early middle ages (Heathwaite & Göttlich 1993). Before mires can be used for agriculture, forestry and peat extraction they have to be drained. But drainage is also the major cause of peatland disturbance. Drainage activities directly affect the GHG balance due to oxidative peat decomposition and denitrification, with concomitant emissions of  $CO_2$  and  $N_2O$  to the atmosphere (Silvan *et al.* 2005). However, they also lower the biodiversity and change the water quality in runoff water in these areas (Lundin 1988, Sallantaus 1989). The  $CH_4$  emissions from peatlands decrease after drainage, but those from drainage ditches may remain high (Minkkinen *et al.* 2008, Hiraishi *et al. (eds.)* 2014).

Furthermore, fundamental changes in the peat matrix, such as subsidence and shrinkage cracks, become visible (Jordan *et al.* 2007, Laiho 2008, Berglund *et al.* 2010). Porosity, water capacity, hydraulic conductivity and wettability of the peat decline and the peat body is characterised by structural damage (Zeitz & Velty 2002, Velty *et al.* 2006). In addition to the abovementioned disturbances, ongoing peat mineralisation leads to transformation of organically bound phosphorus (P) into redox-sensitive inorganic Fe(III)-oxyhydroxide-bound P (Gelbrecht & Koppisch 2001, Zak *et al.* 2004) driving P-leaching when the redox potential of P-binding chemical elements is changed, e.g. at rewetting (Jordan *et al.* 2007, Zak *et al.* 2008). However, this may only be a problem in peatlands used for agriculture and forestry with additional P fertilisation and therefore might be of less importance for extracted peatlands. It is widely reported that drained peatlands act as nutrient sources in the landscape in these conditions (Waddington *et al.* 2003, Maljanen *et al.* 2010) and therefore special account must be taken of the supplementary nutrient output potential to adjacent aquatic ecosystems when managing degraded peatlands.

### 3.3 Rewetted peatlands

For ecological purposes, peatlands drained for peat extraction have been subjected to rewetting actions (Vasander *et al.* 2003, Renou *et al.* 2006). The desired restoration goal with rewetting is re-establishment of the peatland's ecosystem functions (Mahmood & Strack 2011). How successfully this goal can be achieved depends on the existing environmental conditions, such as the used extraction method, the residual peat depth and peat type, the topography of the remaining peat surface together with its landscape situation, and the availability and quality of water resources (Lode 1999, Blankenburg & Tonnis (eds.) 2004, Jordan *et al.* 2009).

One problem in restoring extracted peatlands is re-vegetation. Natural colonisation by plants is a slow process, as seed or spore banks are often missing in the very old residual bare peat. In addition, the dry, powder-like and hydrophobic peat complicates germination and growth of plants (Vasander & Roderfeld 1996, Quinty & Rochefort 1997). Nevertheless, some studies report successful cultivation experiments with *Phalaris arundinacea* L. (e.g. Reinikainen *et al.* 2008, Shurpali *et al.* 2008, Mander *et al.* 2012) and herbs (e.g. Galambosi & Jokela 2008) on extracted peatlands. However, rewetting to construct new ecosystems for promoting the development of wetland vegetation (Tuittila *et al.* 2000), and thus climate mitigation, has greater value from an ecosystem rehabilitation point of view.

While  $CH_4$  emissions may increase after peatland rewetting, it is also important to consider the transition time for emissions after rewetting (Vanselow-Algan *et al.* 2015). Augustin & Joosten (2007) describe high  $CH_4$ emission fluxes as a transient phenomenon occurring in the initial stage directly after rewetting a fen type grassland. They attribute this temporary increase in flux to easily decomposable young biomass (*Phalaris arundinacea*) before inundation. Others have found persistently high  $CH_4$  fluxes over decades after rewetting in the presence of fresh organic material (Hahn-Schöfl *et al.* 2011, Vanselow-Algan *et al.* 2015).  $CO_2$  emissions may be reduced in this period, but the recovery of the C sink function may take decades (Wilson *et al.* 2016a).

Furthermore, the magnitude of GHG fluxes from peatlands depends on various site parameters. Couvenberg *et al.* (2011) concluded that mean annual water level and vegetation are good proxies for GHG fluxes from peatlands in general. Vegetation not only reflects long-term water levels, but also directly affects GHG emissions due to assimilate supply (CO<sub>2</sub>) and CH<sub>4</sub> transport to the atmosphere via the aerenchymatous system of plants (Tuittila *et al.* 2000, Couvenberg *et al.* 2011, Günther *et al.* 2014).

Studies on GHG emission fluxes from rewetted extracted peatlands have been undertaken in various time periods after rewetting (Tuittila *et al.* 2000, Marinier *et al.* 2004, Wilson *et al.* 2007, 2013 & 2016b, Waddington *et al.* 2010, Strack & Zuback 2013, Strack *et al.* 2014 & 2016). However, these results have to be complemented with information on how GHG fluxes change over space and time after rewetting. More data are needed on GHG emissions from extracted peatlands over longer time periods after rewetting (Strack *et al.* 2016) and from corresponding studies about constructed water bodies (e.g. shallow lakes), surrounded by morphologically vegetated littoral zones, which have been identified as high  $CH_4$  emitters (Juutinen *et al.* 2003, Wilson *et al.* 2009), but also as low  $CH_4$  emitters compared with open water (Franz *et al.* 2016).

### 3.4 GHG measurement techniques

The GHG exchange from different soil-plant-water systems to the atmosphere can be measured with manual or automated chambers or with tower- or aircraft-based micrometeorological methods such as eddy covariance (not developed for  $N_2O$  yet) or gradient techniques. The advantages and disadvantages of each measurement method are well summarised in Kutzbach *et al.* (2007) and Koskinen *et al.* (2014). For the detection of small-scale spatial variation in GHG fluxes, e.g. from tussocks-intertussocks or pool-hummock ecotopes in peatlands, use of chamber equipment is the preferred method, even though it poses a number of challenges (Koskinen *et al.* 2014). For example, there is no compulsory guideline regarding chamber design and measurement techniques, temporal resolution and flux estimation (Parkin & Venterea 2010, Sander & Wassmann 2014, ICOS 2016). Measurements with manual chambers are relatively inexpensive (but costs for operator(s) may be expensive), as the chamber can be self-constructed and a power supply in the field is not needed,

which is often the limiting factor for measurements in remote areas. Following some methodological standards for chamber measurements (Rochette & Eriksen-Hamel 2008, Parkin & Venterea 2010, ICOS 2016), e.g. to minimise the general impact (boundary layer effects) measurement imposes on the soil-atmosphere interface when 'sealing' a soil, water or vegetation surface with a chamber, the chambers can be inserted on any spot of interest.

Measuring ebullition in an accurate way is a difficult task (Yu *et al.* 2014). Ebullition is a non-diffusive emission process that can be divided into steady and episodic ebullition (Lai 2009, Green & Baird 2013). Steady ebullition can often be constant enough to be correctly measured with discontinuous sampling (e.g. with vials) of headspace air during a chamber enclosure period of less than 60 min. However, episodic ebullition, which is obviously non-constant over chamber enclosure, cannot easily be recorded by a vial sampling method (Duc *et al.* 2013). Yu *et al.* 2014 developed for dynamic chambers a graphical method for separating diffusion, steady ebullition and episodic ebullition fluxes from the total  $CH_4$  flux. In particular, many studies reject data which are obviously disturbed by ebullition, because appropriate data handling is not ensured. However, ebullition is part of the  $CH_4$  exchange from the soil/water to the atmosphere and should not be neglected in reporting of GHG emissions (Crawford *et al.* 2014).

The use of high temporal resolution measurement systems can provide continuous datasets with simultaneous detection of  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$  and can also distinguish between biological and physical processes, such as ebullition (Pirk *et al.* 2016). Thus, high temporal resolution measurement of GHG fluxes is more reliable than other discontinuous sampling methods (e.g. with vials) for providing complete datasets to act as a basis for discussions about ecosystems and their GHG emissions impact in a changing climate, e.g. within national climate reporting work (Strack *et al.* 2005).

### 4 Material and methods

The work described in this thesis was carried out as part of the long-term project 'Restoration of terminated peat cuttings by rewetting' (Jordan et al. 2009, Kozlov et al. 2016, Lundin et al. 2016) which started in 1997. Within the scope of the present work, investigations were carried out in two extracted peatlands, Porla and Västkärr, (Figure 2a) in sub-boreal central Sweden, where hydrology, peat and water chemical composition and vegetation development had been assessed two years before re-wetting in 1999 and over a 15 years post-rewetting period in Paper I. GHG measurements with manual opaque closed chambers started with pilot studies in 2008 and the first field campaigns took place in 2009. Monitoring was conducted to determine CO2, CH4 and N2O fluxes to the atmosphere from several ecotopes and vegetation communities during different seasons over different years in these two rewetted peatlands after peat extraction (Papers II & III). Since measurements with manual chambers offer great spatial but low temporal resolution, a transparent automated chamber system for high frequency measurements of CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> was installed in 2013 and operated from then onwards (Paper IV).

Another study within this long-term project, but not included in this thesis, dealt with revegetation dynamics after 15 years of rewetting (Kozlov *et al.* 2016). The results of this vegetation monitoring were used as a basis for establishment of the GHG measurement positions in the present thesis and helped to interpret the results of these measurements in different wetland and peatland vegetation communities (Papers II-IV).

### 4.1 Study sites

#### 4.1.1 The nutrient-poor Porla peatland (Papers I, II & IV)

The Porla peatland (place name: Porlamossen) is situated in Laxå municipality (59°01'N, 14°38'E; 74.1 ha, 85 m above sea level), 50 km south-west of the



Figure 2. a) Undrained non-productive mire with peat thickness > 1 m in Sweden and proportion of total land area (%), the black dot marking the position of Porla and Västkärr study sites. Source: Hånell et al. (2008). Images of contemporary land cover in b) Porla and c) Västkärr peatlands, derived from orthophoto in 2014 (Sveriges Lantmäteriet) and the study sites. Images created as Supervised Classification (ArcMap 10.2.1 tool); Cartography: Elve Lode.

city of Örebro in south-central Sweden, and includes a rewetted former peat extraction section and an open, nutrient-poor fen (Figure 2b). The climate is semi-humid and maritime (Köppen 1936) with a growing season length (temperature >5 °C for four days; Odin *et al.* 1983) of 200 days. Other climate conditions and peatland characteristics are summarised in Table 1.

Block peat extraction started in 1889 and continued until 1958. A second era of milled and sod peat extraction with mean annual volume of  $30\ 000\ m^3$  started in 1980 and ended in 1999. A section of the peat extraction area was prepared for rewetting in 1999.

Rewetting established two shallow lakes (A and B, 5 and 12 ha, respectively) with a maximum water depth of 1.5 m. A device (outlet monk) was installed to control the water level from lake B. The Porla study site (Figure 2b) covers the southern part of the rewetted section, including lake B, a *Sphagnum* spp. dominated open poor fen (Paper II) and the northern part of lake A (Paper IV). The littoral zone of lake B is dominated by *Eriophorum vaginatum* tussocks and *Eriophorum angustifolium*. Large patches of bare peat form the inter-tussocks areas. The study site used in Paper IV was characterised by bare peat areas with *Eriophorum vaginatum* tussocks, as well as newly established *Sphagnum* spp.and *Eriophorum vaginatum* tussocks in the phreatic zone of the lake, both interspersed with small pools without vegetation.

### 4.1.2 The nutrient-rich Västkärr peatland (Papers I & III)

The Västkärr peatland is a rewetted peat extraction section in the lagg area of Skagerhultamossen, one of south-central Sweden's largest bogs (59°06'N, 14°45'E; 65 m above sea level). It is situated in Lekeberg municipality, 50 km south-west of Örebro (Figure 2a). Climate conditions are similar to those at Porla (Table 2). Prior to peat extraction, early drainage of the lagg area for hay production and cereal cultivation had already been conducted since the 18<sup>th</sup> century. In the 1970s, more intensive drainage for potato cultivation took place. Milled peat extraction for energy use started in 1987 and continued until 1997. Mean annual volume of extracted peat was 120 000 m<sup>3</sup> on 195 ha. The northern part of the peat extraction area in Västkärr (Figure 2c) was prepared for rewetting in 1998, with water storage starting in 1999. Rewetting established three shallow lakes with a total surface area of 80 ha and with mean water depth of around 1 m. These shallow lakes, which have many small constructed peaty islands, are valuable habitats for common and rare migration bird species.

The dominant mesotrophic and eutrophic wetland species in Västkärr are Carex spp., Phragmites australis and Thypha latifolia. Other helophytes and

| Table 1. Characteristics of the Porla su   | tudy site          |  |                                      |                         |                 |        |      |                   |                                  |       |
|--|--------------------|--|--------------------------------------|-------------------------|-----------------|--------|------|-------------------|----------------------------------|-------|
| Geographic coordinates (WGS 84)  | 59°01'N            | l, 14°38'E   |                                      |                         |                 |        |      |                   |                                  |       |
| Mean annual temperature  | 1961-15<br>1997-20 | 990 <sup>ª</sup> : 5.7 °C<br>)14 <sup>b</sup> : 6.8 °C |                                      |                         |                 |        |      |                   |                                  |       |
| Mean annual precipitation  | 1961-15<br>1997-20 | 990 <sup>a</sup> : 690 mm<br>)14 <sup>b</sup> : 752 mm | yr <sup>-1</sup><br>yr <sup>-1</sup> |                         |                 |        |      |                   |                                  |       |
| Height above sea level   | 85-88 m            |  |                                      |                         |                 |        |      |                   |                                  |       |
| Main peat types  | Sphagni            | um, Carex and  | Eriopho.                             | rum peat (often 1       | nixed with each | other) |      |                   |                                  |       |
| Degree of peat humification  | H 2-8              |  |                                      |                         |                 |        |      |                   |                                  |       |
| Peat C/N ratio   | 45                 |  |                                      |                         |                 |        |      |                   |                                  |       |
| Peat pH  | 3.7-4.4            |  |                                      |                         |                 |        |      |                   |                                  |       |
| Bulk density   | 0.02-0.1           | 2 g cm <sup>-3</sup>                                   |                                      |                         |                 |        |      |                   |                                  |       |
| Ecotopes   | Mire               | Vadose   | Bare                                 | Phreatic                | Eriophorum      | Pond   | Lake | Newly established | Water between                    | Pools |
|  |                    | Eriophorum<br>vaginatum                                | peat                                 | Eriophorum<br>vaginatum | angustifolium   |        |      | Sphagnum spp.     | Eriophorum<br>vaginatum tussocks |       |
|  |                    | D  |                                      | D                       |                 |        |      |                   | 0                                |       |
| Opaque manual chambers with discontinuous sampling (vials and IRGA)  | 6                  | ∞  | ×                                    | ×                       | ×               | 7      | 7    | 1                 | 1                                | 1     |
| Opaque manual chambers with continuous sampling (high frequency measurements of CO <sub>2</sub> and CH <sub>4</sub> )  | 6                  | ×  | ∞                                    | ×                       | ∞               |        | ı    | 4                 |                                  |       |
| 8 transparent automated chambers <sup>c</sup> with<br>continuous sampling (high frequency<br>measurements of CO <sub>2</sub> and CH <sub>4</sub> ) and<br>alternating placement during the years |                    | +  | +                                    | +                       | ı               | I      | i.   | +                 | +                                | +     |
| <sup>a</sup> Raab & Vedin 1995; <sup>b</sup> 4x4 km gridded dat  | a; SMHI            | 2014; <sup>°</sup> diffen                              | ent site as                          | the manual char         | nbers           |        |      |                   |                                  |       |

| Geographic coordinates<br>(WGS 84)                 | 59°06'N, 14°45'E   |
|--|--|
| Mean annual temperature                            | 1961-1990 <sup>a</sup> : 5.7 °C; 1997-2014 <sup>b</sup> : 6.8 °C   |
| Mean annual precipitation                          | 1961-1990 <sup>a</sup> : 690 mm yr <sup>-1</sup> ; 1997-2014 <sup>b</sup> : 723 mm yr <sup>-1</sup>  |
| Height above sea level                             | 65-68 m  |
| Main peat types                                    | Carex peat mixed with wood   |
| Degree of peat humification                        | H 8 to H 10  |
| Peat C/N ratio                                     | 21   |
| Peat pH  | 5-6  |
| Bulk density                                       | 0.2-0.3 g cm <sup>-3</sup>   |
| Sites  | 3 transects with a gradient from dry vegetated shore (above the water table), over the vegetated littoral zone (water level height $0-0.3 \text{ m}$ ) to the open water |
| Dominant plants                                    | From land to water: <i>Graminoids</i> , <i>Scirpus</i> spp. and communities of both; <i>Thypha latifolia</i> , <i>Carex</i> spp. and communities of both                 |
| Opaque manual chambers with discontinuous sampling | $3 \times 8$ chambers  |

Table 2. Characteristics of the Västkärr study site.

<sup>a</sup> Raab & Vedin 1995; <sup>b</sup> 4x4 km gridded data; SMHI 2014

hydrophytes such as *Alisma plantago-aquatica*, *Butomus umbellatus*, *Hydrocharis morsus-ranae*, *Juncus* spp., *Lythrum salicaria*, *Scirpus* spp. and *Sparganium* spp. also occur. *Lemna minor* is ubiquitous between late June and October. Graminoids such as *Calamagrostis canescens*, *Poa trivialis* and *Phalaris arundinacea* dominate the dryer parts of the shore and the constructed ridges between the lakes. Vegetation composition changes somewhat in cover values (Kozlov *et al.* 2016) due to intense inner-annual and inter-annual water level fluctuations.

### 4.2 Peat and water sampling (Paper I)

Long-term rewetting investigations (Paper I) were carried out at the two peat extraction sites (Porla and Västkärr) between 1997 (before rewetting), in the initial years after wetland establishment and up to 15 years post-rewetting (2013). Field measurements are still ongoing. Discharge determinations were made in weirs with water level recorders. Routine fortnightly field observations of water depth and monthly water sampling at the Porla site were carried out by a local observer. In Västkärr, water was sampled 4-6 times per year. Control visits were made by the SLU research team 2-6 times per year.

Soil samples were taken using a steel auger from 0-10 cm and 10-20 cm in Västkärr and from 0-20 cm and 20-40 cm in Porla before rewetting (1997) and after rewetting (in 2003 and 2007) and again in 2009 and 2011 (not included here). These soil samples were placed in plastic bags, transported to the laboratory at the Department of Soil & Environment, SLU, Uppsala, and stored there under cool conditions until analysis. Soil chemical analyses (C<sub>tot</sub>, Ca<sub>tot</sub>, K<sub>tot</sub>, Mg<sub>tot</sub>, N<sub>tot</sub>, NH<sub>4</sub>-N, NO<sub>3</sub>-N, P<sub>tot</sub>, pH, and S<sub>tot</sub>) were performed on field-fresh and air-dried samples. Water chemical analyses for pH, colour, electrical conductivity, alkalinity and various elements, such as DOC, N<sub>tot</sub>, NH<sub>4</sub>-N, NO<sub>3</sub>-N, N<sub>O3</sub>-N, N<sub>org</sub>, PO<sub>4</sub>-P and P<sub>tot</sub>, SO<sub>4</sub>-S, base cations and metals, were carried out according to routine to methods (SLU 2016) at SLU's water laboratory in Uppsala within 1-2 days.

### 4.3 GHG measurements

In all field sites for GHG measurements (Paper II-IV) wooden boardwalks were installed to prevent disturbance to the peat by trampling. On every GHG flux measurement occasion, soil or water temperature at 10 cm depth was determined adjacent to each measurement position. *In situ* measurements of pH, redox potential, electrical conductivity and temperature were performed with a portable multi-parameter meter (Multi 1970i, WTW, Germany) from 2011 onwards.

### 4.3.1 Nutrient-poor Porla peatland (Papers II & IV)

## Manual opaque closed chambers with non-continuous determination of $CO_2$ , $CH_4$ and $N_2O$ (Paper II)

In Porla, seven ecotopes with typical wetland and peatland characteristics (Table 1) were selected (Paper II). Within each of these ecotopes, sub-areas were chosen for investigations (Figure 2b). A total of 45 flux measurement positions were established in the seven sub-areas. The  $CO_2$ ,  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  fluxes to the atmosphere were measured on 10 occasions during daytime in the snow-free period (April to October) from 2009 to 2012. For determination of gas fluxes to the atmosphere, see Section 4.3.

## Manual opaque chambers with continuous determination of $CO_2$ and $CH_4$ (Paper IV)

In addition to the non-continuous determination of  $CH_4$ , high-frequency measurements of  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  with manual chambers were carried out in the above named ecotopes (Figure 2b). A total of 45 flux measurement positions were established. The  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  fluxes to the atmosphere were measured

on six occasions during daytime in the snow-free period (April to October) in 2013. Continuous measurements for short-term detection of  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$  fluxes were performed using the opaque chamber method as described by Jordan *et al.* (2016) but attached to an infrared laser absorption gas analyser (Model 915-0011, Los Gatos Research, USA) to measure  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  volume concentrations in headspace air (cf. Juszczak 2013). The gas analyser was additionally shielded with aluminium foil. Different ebullition patterns were determined by visual inspection of the continuous dataset for both  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$ .

## Automated transparent chambers with continuous determination of $CO_2$ and $CH_4$ (Paper IV)

An automated system with eight transparent closed chambers was installed in five ecotopes (Table 1) along the northern shore of lake A (Figures 2b). During the snow-free period, continuous measurements of  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$  fluxes were performed from 2013 to 2015. The measurements of  $CO_2$  flux included autotrophic and heterotrophic respiration from the soil and release from the water, as well as respiration or uptake by photosynthesis from the biomass.

The automated closed chamber system consisted of eight transparent polycarbonate chambers (35 cm in diameter; Figure 3) resting on frames (frame and chamber height were dependent on the surface cover). Each chamber was equipped with a motor to open and close the chamber lid, an air mixing fan, a photosynthetically active radiation sensor, copper-constantan thermocouples for air temperature recording (every third minute) inside the chamber and a pressure vent. The chambers were connected to an infrared laser absorption gas analyser (Model 915-0011, Los Gatos Research, USA) via ~15 m long heated tubes. A pump circulated the air (4.5  $\ell$  min<sup>-1</sup>) between the chamber and the gas analyser during each measurement. The gas analyser,



*Figure 3.* Automated transparent floating chambers (left) and automated transparent chamber (right) at Porla study site (Photos: Sabine Jordan).

pump, switching devices, multiplexer and solenoids were placed inside an insulated caravan.

Adjacent to each chamber, soil or water temperature was measured by copper-constantan thermocouples at a depth of 10 cm from the soil or water surface, also every third minute. At a central point between all chambers, a water level device with a data logger was installed (WT-HR, TruTrack, New Zealand). Water level was measured two times per hour and the value obtained was then used for headspace volume corrections in the chambers.

A similar automated system was used by Strömgren (2001), but in the present study a computer was used to control the system instead of a data logger. A measurement cycle for the eight chambers required 48 min. Each chamber was measured for three minutes. The first minute was used to flush the old air from the tubes and the analyser. Thus, the observations for the first minute were discarded because of the delay of the air transport through tubes and possible disturbance caused by the closure of the lid. Hence, the last two minutes of observations before the lid was opened were used to estimate the flux.  $CO_2$ ,  $CH_4$ ,  $H_2O_{(g)}$  volume concentrations were observed every 10 s with start at chamber closure, but 1 s values were also stored. After a measurement and when the lid started to open, ambient air was flushed through the system.

The  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  fluxes were estimated by linear and non-linear regression according to Koskinen *et al.* (2014). As the change in air humidity was small during each measurement, the  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  volume concentration values were not corrected for water vapour dilution. Monthly arithmetic means of the fluxes were calculated.

Data for the synopsis of  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  emissions were chosen from June, July and August 2015 only. Different ebullition patterns were determined by visual inspection of the continuous dataset for both  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$ .

### 4.3.2 Nutrient-rich Västkärr peatland (Paper III)

## Manual opaque closed chambers with non-continuous determination of $CO_2$ , $CH_4$ and $N_2O$

In Västkärr, ecosystem respiration (CO<sub>2</sub>), CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O flux measurements were performed on 16 occasions during daytime in the snow-free period (April to October) from 2009 to 2014. A total of 24 GHG flux measurement positions, as frames or floating chambers were established in wetland and non-wetland vegetation zones along a water level gradient at three transects (Figure 2c): generally three frames in the vegetated soil (*Graminoids*, *Scirpus* spp. and communities of both) higher up the shore and above the water table; three in the vegetated part of the littoral zone (*Carex* spp., *Thypha latifolia* and communities of both) with water depth 0-0.3 m; and two floating chambers in the (vegetation-free) water of the lake. These conditions were taken as 'normal' conditions and they changed to 'dry' or 'inundated' conditions from time to time, meaning that the whole transect was lying above or below the water level, respectively. Thus, it was also possible to investigate, how GHG emissions from typical wetland and non-wetland vegetation reacted to drought and inundation.

When seasonally flooded, floating chambers were used almost exclusively. When the water level became very low, frames were used instead of floating chambers. The frames in the littoral zone were adapted in height to the plant development and to water level height. Thus, young *Thypha latifolia* plants which fitted in the chamber without bending were measured in spring and early summer. *Thypha latifolia* can grow to heights up to 2.5 m. For that reason GHG flux measurements within the *Thypha latifolia* community were performed without including plants in the chamber between late June and late October. For determination of gas fluxes to the atmosphere, see Section 4.3.

# 4.3.3 Determination of gas fluxes to the atmosphere for manual opaque closed chambers with non-continuous determination of $CO_2$ , $CH_4$ and $N_2O$ (Papers II & III)

The  $CO_2$ ,  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  fluxes from soil-plant-water systems to the atmosphere were determined by time series measurements of the respective volume concentration in chambers placed on frames resting on the ground or floating on the water surface, followed by regression analyses to estimate the concentration change per unit time and to estimate the resulting flux.

The CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O measurements were made using the opaque closed chamber method (Parkin & Venterea 2010, Pumpanen *et al.* 2010) and, as such, only ecosystem respiration was measured for CO<sub>2</sub>. For gas sampling on peat and *Sphagnum* spp., permanent annular polyvinylchloride (PVC) frames (inner base diameter 18.7 cm) were installed at each GHG flux measurement position (Figure 4). To avoid lateral gas exchange in the soil, the insertion depth of the frames varied due to different soil water conditions (cf. Hutchinson & Livingston 2001, Davidson *et al.* 2002). For flux measurements, a non-steady-state flow-through opaque chamber was attached to the frame and sealed with a rubber gasket (Figure 4). The chamber was made of PVC with 18.7 cm inner base diameter and 16 cm height and had an effective chamber air volume of 4.3  $\ell$ . Air samples were taken in crossflow through the chamber headspace with polysiloxane tubing. Frame air volume was determined on each GHG measurement occasion to obtain the headspace air volume (sum of chamber and frame air volumes). A chamber installed in the centre of a life



*Figure 4*. Frame (left), manual opaque chamber (middle) and manual opaque floating chamber (right) (Photos: Sabine Jordan).

buoy (i.e. floating chamber) identical in dimensions and with an effective headspace air volume of  $3.0 \ell$  was used for GHG concentration time series measurements on open water (Figure 4).

The CO<sub>2</sub> volume concentration in the headspace air was determined using a portable infra-red gas analyser (GMP343 and MI70, Vaisala, Finland) connected to the chamber. An external membrane pump (flow rate 0.4  $\ell$  min<sup>-1</sup>) circulated the air between the chamber headspace and the CO<sub>2</sub> probe during the 4.5 min chamber closure. CO<sub>2</sub> concentration is measured as 10-s average at 25, 55, ..., 265 s. For measurements of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O concentrations in headspace air, 20 ml air samples were collected in septum bottles (glass vials with 20 mm/3.0 mm butyl-polytetrafluorethylene septum in aluminium seal cap, Scantec Nordic, Sweden) at 10, 20, 30, 40 and 50 min after chamber closure (April 2009 to May 2012) or 10, 20 and 30 min after chamber closure (June 2012 to October 2013) or 1, 11, 21, 31 and 41 min after chamber closure (2014). Air was circulated with an external membrane pump (volume flow rate  $0.4 \ \ell \ min^{-1}$ ) between chamber and vial over 20 s. The CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O samples were analysed using a gas chromatograph (Clarus 500, Perkin Elmer, USA) equipped with a flame ionisation detector, an electron capture detector and an automatic vial headspace injector (Turbo Matrix 110, Perkin Elmer, USA). CH<sub>4</sub> standards of 2, 10, 20 and 350 ppmn and N<sub>2</sub>O standards of 0.3, 1.7 and 4.7 ppmn (AGA, Sweden) were used for calibration. The standards' certified mixture compositions were given in amount fraction (ppmn), however, the volume concentration (ppmv) was used in the present study (1 ppmn  $\triangleq$  1 ppmv) (Calvert 1990, Möller 2003, IUPAC 2006).

CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes were estimated according to  $F = f'(t_0) \times p \times V \div (A \times R \times T)$  where *F* is the molar flux to the atmosphere. The first functional derivative  $f'(t_0)$  at the moment of chamber closure  $t_0$  is estimated from the regression function  $f(t) = y_{gas}(t)$  of the change in volume

concentration  $y_{gas}$  in headspace air over time *t* and given as concentration per unit time; *p* is the atmospheric pressure, *V* the headspace air volume, *A* the chamber base area, *R* the molar gas constant and *T* the sample air temperature. Before regression analysis for CO<sub>2</sub>, all  $y_{gas}$  values within the first 50 s after chamber closure were rejected due to potential disturbances caused by chamber attachment (cf. Davidson *et al.* 2002, Kutzbach *et al.* 2007). To estimate CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes, linear, exponential and quadratic regressions were estimated and the monotone regression function with the least residual standard deviation was used (cf. Kutzbach *et al.* 2007, Koskinen *et al.* 2014). Linear regression was used to estimate CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes (cf. Kutzbach *et al.* 2007, Parkin & Venterea 2010, de Klein & Harvey (eds.) 2012).

#### 4.4 Statistical analyses

All variables studied in Paper I were not normally distributed. Therefore, before studying the effects of rewetting, all data were log-transformed to meet normality and homoscedasticity assumptions. A threshold of P < 0.05 was always used for significance. *SAS 9.4*<sup>®</sup> was used for statistical analyses.

A linear mixed effects analysis (cf. Bates 2010, Gries 2012, Winter 2013) was performed (Papers II & III) to investigate the relationships between GHG fluxes and some adjacent environmental conditions (e.g. soil temperature, vegetation community or ecotope, water level or soil water condition) based on the individual flux estimates of all measurement positions by means of the packages *lme4* and car in *R x64 3.2.2* (Fox & Weisberg 2011; Bates *et al.* 2015a, b; R Core Team 2015). To identify the best fitting model for a GHG flux, *P*-values and *Akaike's Information Criterion* were obtained by likelihood ratio tests comparing a model with the effect in question against the respective model without the effect in question (cf. Gries 2012, Winter 2013). The models were also checked and compared for good approaches to homoscedasticity and normality. CH<sub>4</sub> flux estimates were not included in the linear mixed effects analysis if disturbance by ebullition was plausible. N<sub>2</sub>O was not included in the linear mixed effects analyses as the huge majority of flux values were below the detection limit.

In addition to the results in Paper II, differences between GHG fluxes from the various ecotopes on each measurement occasion were investigated using the *Kruskal-Wallis* test for multiple comparisons of independent samples and the *Conover* post-hoc test for pair-wise comparisons (*PMCMR 4.0* package in R x 64 3.2.3; R Core Team 2015, Pohlert 2014, 2016). The intention with this was to develop an emission flux ranking sorted from high to low emitter ecotopes.

For illustrative purposes in this thesis, a two-tailed *Mann-Whitney U*-test was used for pair-wise comparison of the  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  emission fluxes (averages) from the natural *Sphagnum* mire (as a control site) with the fluxes from each of the other ecotopes, and thus to identify differences.

### 5 Results and discussions

## 5.1 From peat extraction areas to shallow lakes – after-use of industrial peat sites (Paper I)

Two functioning wetland ecosystems with stable hydrology have established during 17 years after rewetting of the former peat extraction sites. Both, fen vegetation and *Sphagnum* mosses have developed (Kozlov *et al.* 2016). This is an important prerequisite for new peat growth and a future C sink.

However, in the Porla peatland, some initial mishaps lowered the lake water level twice, in 2001 and 2002, to 0.1-0.2 m depth, but after that it stabilised at around 1 m depth in the central parts (Figure 5). In the Västkärr lakes, the water level remained fairly stable from the beginning of rewetting, with depth between 0.5 m and 1 m and occasional maximum depth of 2 m (Figure 5).

Compared with the pre-rewetting phase, the concentrations of DOC, base cations, NO<sub>3</sub>-N, NH<sub>4</sub>-N and N<sub>tot</sub> were lower 15 years after rewetting, but concentrations also varied somewhat over time. Water pH at the Porla site remained fairly stable, but at the Västkärr site, after an initial dip, pH gradually increased to higher values than before rewetting. The Ptot concentration increased over time, especially in the nutrient-rich Västkärr site. After rewetting, P stored in sediments can easily be released when anoxic bottom conditions are reached and reductant-soluble or acid-soluble metals such as iron, aluminium and calcium as potential P binding partners are available (Zak et al. 2008). At the nutrient-rich Västkärr site, a significant increase in total P was observed after rewetting, while PO<sub>4</sub>-P decreased after a small initial increase in the first two years of rewetting. This was probably related to biological uptake forming organically bound P. In addition, the remaining peat in Västkärr is highly decomposed (H 8 to H 10) and thus might have a high P release potential after rewetting (Jordan et al. 2007, Zak et al. 2008). After the initial pulse of P release, the P concentration decreased somewhat in the next



Figure 5. Rewetting stages at Porla and Västkärr (Photos: Lars Lundin, Sabine Jordan).

5-11 years after rewetting, but was still higher 12-15 years after rewetting than before rewetting. Thus, if oxidised metals remain after re-wetting, P may be released from these highly decomposed peat horizons at the bottom of newly established shallow lakes over many years. However, at the nutrient-poor Porla site there were no significant effects on total P or PO<sub>4</sub>-P after rewetting, although there was a tendency for increased total P values. This is perhaps because the old bottom peat has not changed pedogenetically (H 2 to H 8) to the same extent as the peat at Västkärr and thus the P release after re-wetting might be rather small (Jordan *et al.* 2007, Zak *et al.* 2008).

## 5.2 Ecosystem respiration and CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes to the atmosphere (Papers II & III)

Linear mixed effects analysis was performed for better generalisation between the environmental conditions and the  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  emission fluxes from the ecotopes and vegetation communities. The mixed models obtained allowed the influences of ecotope type and vegetation communities on GHG fluxes to be related to the influences of soil temperature, soil water condition and vitality of plants and, consequently, to aggregate the flux measurement results from a number of one-day-observations, dependent on diurnal variations of temperature, to a more generalised view on temperature, weather and season.

### 5.2.1 The nutrient-poor Porla peatland (Paper II)

Ecotopes had a significant impact on  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  fluxes to the atmosphere. Ecosystem respiration and  $CH_4$  emissions from the bare peat site, the constructed shallow lake and the open poor fen (mire) were low but were much higher from ecotopes with *Eriophorum vaginatum* tussocks and *Eriophorum angustifolium*. The N<sub>2</sub>O emissions contributed little to total GHG fluxes from the soil-plant-water systems to the atmosphere as the site is nutrient poor (C:N ratio > 25).

### $CO_2$

A combination of vascular plant cover and high soil temperatures enhanced ecosystem respiration (Figure 6). The linear mixed effects model also significantly distinguished between the  $CO_2$  fluxes from the wet ecotopes and those from saturated and inundated ecotopes, which were highest from the vadose *Eriophorum vaginatum* ecotope and the bare peat under wet conditions (Figure 6). Since the measurement technique covered only ecosystem respiration, it was not possible to estimate the net  $CO_2$  uptake. Therefore, all high  $CO_2$ -emitting sites such as the *Eriophorum* spp. ecotopes might accumulate more C (cf. Wilson *et al.* 2013, Strack *et al.* 2014) than non-vegetated sites, water bodies and the mire.



*Figure 6.* Ecotope  $CO_2$  fluxes to the atmosphere (mmol m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) related to soil/water temperature (°C) and soil water conditions. Fluxes estimated with the linear mixed effects model (Table 5 in Paper II) based on measured temperature ranges.

#### $CH_4$

As has been found previously, water table position and the presence of aerenchymatous species are important controls on CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes from peatlands to the atmosphere (Bubier 1995, Le Mer & Roger 2001, Larmola *et al.* 2010, Mahmood & Strack 2011, Miller 2011). In this study a combination of vascular plant cover, high water table levels and high soil temperatures enhanced CH<sub>4</sub> emissions (Figure 7). Some authors (e.g. Juutinen *et al.* 2003, Wilson *et al.* 2009) have also observed a distinct contrast in CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes between the highly productive littoral zone (in Porla: the *Eriophorum angustifolium* ecotope) and the pelagic zone of a lake. Within the vegetated ecotopes at soil surface water level (mire, phreatic *Eriophorum vaginatum, Eriophorum angustifolium*), the mire emitted less CH<sub>4</sub> than the two *Eriophorum* spp. ecotopes. This can be attributed to minimised plant-mediated CH<sub>4</sub> transport in the mire due to the absence of vascular plants and to simultaneous CH<sub>4</sub> oxidation as a result of the methanotrophic bacteria living in the aerobic *Sphagnum* spp. lawn (Whalen 2005, Hornibrook *et al.* 2009, Fritz *et al.* 2011).

In contrast, sites with an oxic upper peat horizon (i.e. the bare peat ecotope in Porla) support  $CH_4$  oxidation and thus low  $CH_4$  fluxes to the atmosphere are observed. In addition to the increasing organic substrate supply after rewetting, which may lead to high  $CH_4$  emissions, ecotopes with *Eriophorum vaginatum* tussocks can also serve as  $CH_4$  catalysts. Due to their wide belowground network of roots and rhizomes, *Eriophorum vaginatum* can absorb  $CH_4$ (Frenzel & Rudolph 1998) and can thus lead to somewhat higher  $CH_4$  fluxes to the atmosphere than the surrounding bare peat (Tuittila *et al.* 2000).



*Figure 7.* Ecotope  $CH_4$  fluxes (mmol m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) related to soil or water temperature (°C). Fluxes estimated with the linear mixed effects model (Table 6 in paper II) based on measured temperature ranges.

### Pair-wise comparison and emission ranking of ecotopes

A pair-wise comparison between the natural *Sphagnum* mire and each of the other ecotopes identified that the mire in general emitted less  $CO_2$  (except the lake) and  $CH_4$  (except the bare peat) than the other ecotopes (Figures 8 & 9) even though the differences were not always significant. These results are in line with the results achieved with the linear mixed effects analysis (Figures 6 & 7).

Ecotopes were ranked from the highest to the lowest  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  emission fluxes for each measurement occasion (Tables 3 and 4). The *Kruskal-Wallis* tests indicated that  $CO_2$  emission fluxes were significantly different between the ecotopes, except for July 2010 and October 2011. The *Conover* post-hoc test indicated that the emission fluxes from the mire were significantly lower than those from the three *Eriophorum* spp. ecotopes for the majority of measurement occasions. The  $CH_4$  emission fluxes were significantly different between the ecotopes, except for September 2012. The emission fluxes from the mire were significantly lower than those from the phreatic *Eriophorum vaginatum* and *Eriophorum angustifolium* ecotopes for the majority of measurement occasions, as indicated by the *Conover* post-hoc test results.

The non-parametric *Mann-Whitney* and *Kruskal-Wallis* tests and a simple calculation of arithmetic means and quartiles (Paper II; Figures 2 & 4) came in the end to the same result as the linear mixed effects analysis.

#### 5.2.2 The nutrient-rich Västkärr peatland (Paper III)

Water level and different vegetation communities had a significant impact on  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  fluxes to the atmosphere in Västkärr. In general, ecosystem respiration was higher than  $CH_4$  emissions (Figure 10). Since the same measurement technique as in Paper II was used in Paper III, only ecosystem respiration was covered and thus it was not possible to estimate the net  $CO_2$  uptake. The  $CO_2$  uptake by photosynthesis may decrease the net  $CO_2$  fluxes to the atmosphere from the vegetated part of the shore zone. The N<sub>2</sub>O emissions contributed little to total GHG fluxes from the soil-plant-water system to the atmosphere, even though the site is nutrient-rich (C:N ratio < 25).

### Fluxes of CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> in 'normal' conditions

In 'normal' conditions,  $CO_2$  fluxes decreased along the water level gradient from the dry vegetated shore towards the open water, whereas  $CH_4$  fluxes were highest from the vascular plants in the littoral zone with standing water. These results are in line with general knowledge about vascular plants with aerenchymatous tissues being the dominant factor for  $CH_4$  fluxes from



*Figure 8.* Pairwise comparison of the CO<sub>2</sub> emission fluxes (averages) from the natural *Sphagnum* mire (as a control site) and from each of the other ecotopes (two-tailed Mann-Whitney *U*-test); note different scales on x- and y-axes. Black dots = significant difference between the plot samples (two-tailed U-test,  $P \le 0.05$ ); grey dots = no significant difference between the plot samples (two-tailed U-test, P > 0.05); line = equal CO<sub>2</sub> emission fluxes.



*Figure 9.* Pairwise comparison of the CH<sub>4</sub> emission fluxes (averages) from the natural *Sphagnum* mire (as a control site) with the fluxes from each of the other ecotopes (two-tailed Mann-Whitney *U*-test); note different scales on x- and y-axes. Black dots = significant difference between the plot samples (two-tailed U-test,  $P \le 0.05$ ); grey dots = no significant difference between the plot samples (two-tailed U-test,  $P \ge 0.05$ ); line = equal CH<sub>4</sub> emission fluxes.

Table 3. Arithmetic means of  $CO_2$  emission fluxes [mmol  $m^{-2} h^{-1}$ ], ranked by mean and sample size (in brackets) per ecotope and measurement occasion with results of Kruskal-Wallis and Conover post-hoc tests. Mire (as reference ecotope in bold) was not subjected to peat extraction. Ecotopes that are significantly different in fluxes from the mire are marked with \*.  $P_{KW} = P$  values obtained from Kruskal-Wallis test;  $n_C =$  number of ecotope pairs with significantly different fluxes out of total number of pairs from Conover post-hoc test (P < 0.05); vad. = vadose; phr. = phreatic.

|              |                                     |                                     |                                      |                                     | Measureme                          | ent occasion                         | I                                   |                                     |                                   |                                     |
|--------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| date         | 16/04/09                            | 15/05 &<br>16/05/12                 | 06/06/09                             | 26/06/12                            | 05/07 &<br>06/07/10                | 15/07 &<br>16/07/09                  | 04/09/12                            | 19/10/09                            | 24/10 &<br>25/10/11               | 24/10 &<br>25/10/12                 |
| $P_{\rm KW}$ | 0.002                               | 0.003                               | 0.0004                               | 0.0003                              | 0.28                               | 0.0002                               | 0.002                               | 0.0001                              | 0.07                              | 0.009                               |
| $n_{\rm C}$  | 11 of 21                            | 12 of 21                            | 13 of 21                             | 12 of 21                            | -                                  | 6 of 10                              | 9 of 21                             | 7 of 10                             | -                                 | 5 of 15                             |
| Rank         |                                     |                                     |                                      |                                     |                                    |                                      |                                     |                                     |                                   |                                     |
| 1.           | * Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>7.1 (8) | * Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>4.9 (6) | * Phr.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>10.5 (8) | * Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>14.9(6) | Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>40.3 (5) | * Phr.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>14.8 (8) | * <i>E. ang.</i><br>11.1 (6)        | * Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>6.5 (5) | <i>E. ang.</i><br>1.8(5)          | * <i>E. ang.</i><br>3.4(8)          |
| 2.           | * Phr.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>6.0(8)  | * Pond<br>3.8 (2)                   | * Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>9.0(5)   | * <i>E. ang.</i><br>5.5 (5)         | <i>E. ang.</i><br>15.3 (5)         | * Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>12.0(5)  | * Phr.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>6.1 (5) | * Phr.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>4.6 (8) | Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>1.8(5)  | * Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>2.3 (5) |
| 3.           | * Bare<br>peat<br>3.7 (8)           | * Phr.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>2.8 (5) | * Pond<br>5.6(2)                     | *Bare<br>peat<br>4.0(8)             | Phr.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>13.8 (8) | * <i>E. ang.</i><br>9.7(5)           | * Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>5.6(5)  | * Bare<br>peat<br>1.0(6)            | Phr.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>9.7 (8) | * Lake<br>1.1 (2)                   |
| 4.           | <i>E. ang.</i> 2.5(5)               | * Bare<br>peat<br>2.7 (8)           | * <i>E. ang.</i><br>4.6(5)           | Phr.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>3.2 (5)   | Bare<br>peat<br>10.0(6)            | Bare<br>peat<br>4.1 (6)              | Bare<br>peat<br>2.2 (8)             | <i>E. ang.</i> 0.8(5)               | Bare<br>peat<br>0.5(6)            | Phr.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>0.6(5)    |
| 5.           | <b>Mire</b> 1.1 (7)                 | <i>E. ang.</i> 1.1 (5)              | Bare<br>peat<br>3.6(6)               | <b>Mire</b> 2.2 (8)                 | <b>Mire</b> 8.2(8)                 | <b>Mire</b> 1.6(8)                   | Pond 2.2(2)                         | <b>Mire</b> 0.1 (8)                 | <b>Mire</b> 0.4(8)                | * Bare<br>peat<br>0.5 (8)           |
| 6.           | Lake 0.9(2)                         | <b>Mire</b> 1.1 (8)                 | <b>Mire</b> 2.3 (8)                  | Pond 2.2(2)                         | -                                  | -                                    | Lake 1.9(2)                         | -                                   | Lake 0.3(1)                       | <b>Mire</b> 0.0(2)                  |
| 7.           | Pond<br>0.5(2)                      | Lake 0.1 (2)                        | Lake 0.1 (4)                         | Lake 0.7(2)                         | -                                  | -                                    | <b>Mire</b> 1.0(8)                  | -                                   | -                                 | -                                   |

Table 4. Arithmetic means of  $CH_4$  emission fluxes  $[mmol m^{-2} h^{-1}]$ , ranked by mean and sample size (in round brackets) per ecotope and measurement occasion with results of Kruskal-Wallis and Conover post-hoc tests. Mire (as reference ecotope in bold) was not subjected to peat extraction. Ecotopes that are significantly different in fluxes from the mire are marked with \*. Arithmetic means and sample size in curly brackets were compiled only from flux estimates being sufficiently free of disturbance by ebullition (no Kruskal-Wallis test for this compilation).  $P_{KW} = P$  values obtained from Kruskal-Wallis test;  $n_C =$  number of ecotope pairs with significantly different fluxes out of total number of pairs from Conover post-hoc test (P < 0.05); vad. = vadose; phr. = phreatic.

|              | Measurement occasion                             |   |   |  |  |  |  |   |  |
|--------------|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|---|--|
| date         | 16/04/09   | 15/05 &<br>16/05/12                           | 06/06/09                                      | 26/06/12   | 05/07 &<br>06/07/10                              | 15/07 &<br>16/07/09                              | 04/09/12   | 19/10/09  | 24/10 &<br>25/10/12                              |
| $P_{\rm KW}$ | 0.02   | 0.0002  | 0.0004  | 0.002  | 0.006  | 0.0001   | 0.20   | 0.00002   | 0.01   |
| $n_{\rm C}$  | 6 of 21  | 11 of 21                                      | 12 of 21                                      | 6 of 21  | 4 of 10  | 14 of 21   | -  | 11 of 15  | 6 of 15  |
| Rank         |  |   |   |  |  |  |  |   |  |
| 1.           | * <i>E. ang.</i><br>0.43 (6)<br>{-(0)}           | * Phr.<br>E. vag.<br>0.33 (7)<br>{0.24 (2)}   | * Phr.<br>E. vag.<br>0.71 (7)<br>{0.52(1)}    | * Phr.<br>E. vag.<br>2.05 (7)<br>{0.17 (2)}      | Phr.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>0.62 (7)<br>{0.03 (1)} | * Phr.<br>E. vag.<br>1.60(7)<br>{0.33(1)}        | <i>E. ang.</i><br>2.20(6)<br>{-(0)}              | *Vad.<br><i>E.vag.</i><br>0.61 (8)<br>{0.59(5)} | * <i>E. ang.</i><br>3.22(6)<br>{-(0)}            |
| 2.           | * Phr.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>0.14(7)<br>{0.06(1)} | * <i>E. ang.</i><br>0.33 (6)<br>{-(0)}        | * <i>E. ang.</i><br>0.50(6)<br>{-(0)}         | * <i>E. ang.</i><br>1.94(6)<br>{-(0)}            | <i>E. ang.</i><br>0.62(6)<br>{-(0)}              | * <i>E. ang.</i><br>0.74(6)<br>{-(0)}            | Phr.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>1.54(7)<br>{0.20(2)}   | * Phr.<br><i>E.vag.</i><br>0.45(7)<br>{0.19(1)} | * Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>0.30(7)<br>{0.31(5)} |
| 3.           | Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>0.11 (8)<br>{0.11 (8)} | * Pond<br>0.13 (2)<br>{-(0)}                  | Lake<br>0.41 (4)<br>{-(0)}                    | Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>0.21 (7)<br>{0.10 (5)} | <b>Mire</b><br>0.26(7)<br>{0.06(2)}              | * Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>0.56(8)<br>{0.43(5)} | Lake<br>0.82(1)<br>{-(0)}                        | * <i>E. ang.</i><br>0.22(6)<br>{-(0)}           | * Phr.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>0.16(7)<br>{0.07(2)} |
| 4.           | Pond<br>0.09(2)<br>{-(0)}                        | Vad.<br><i>E.vag.</i><br>0.05(7)<br>{0.01(5)} | * Pond<br>0.38(2)<br>{-(0)}                   | Pond<br>0.08(2)<br>{-(0)}                        | Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>0.20(8)<br>{0.15(5)}   | <b>Mire</b><br>0.06(7)<br>{0.00(2)}              | <b>Mire</b><br>0.32(7)<br>{0.09(2)}              | <b>Mire</b><br>0.03 (7)<br>{0.01 (2)}           | Lake<br>0.02(2)<br>{-(0)}                        |
| 5.           | * Lake<br>0.09(2)<br>{-(0)}                      | <b>Mire</b><br>0.02(7)<br>{0.02(2)}           | Vad.<br><i>E.vag.</i><br>0.05(8)<br>{0.03(5)} | <b>Mire</b><br>0.03 (7)<br>{0.06 (2)}            | *Bare<br>peat<br>0.00(8)<br>{0.00(8)}            | Pond<br>0.01(2)<br>{-(0)}                        | Vad.<br><i>E. vag.</i><br>0.31 (7)<br>{0.11 (5)} | Lake<br>0.01(2)<br>{-(0)}                       | Bare<br>peat<br>0.00(8)<br>{0.00(8)}             |
| 6.           | Bare<br>peat<br>0.03 (8)<br>{0.03 (8)}           | Lake<br>0.01 (2)<br>{-(0)}                    | <b>Mire</b><br>0.03(7)<br>{0.01(2)}           | Lake<br>0.01(1)<br>{-(0)}                        | -  | *Bare<br>peat<br>0.00(8)<br>{0.00(8)}            | Bare<br>peat<br>0.27(8)<br>{0.27(8)}             | *Bare<br>peat<br>0.00(8)<br>{0.00(8)}           | <b>Mire</b><br>-0.21(7)<br>{0.04(2)}             |
| 7.           | <b>Mire</b><br>0.00(5)<br>{0.00(5)}              | Bare<br>peat<br>0.00(8)<br>{0.00(8)}          | *Bare<br>peat<br>0.00(8)<br>{0.00(8)}         | * Bare<br>peat<br>0.00(8)<br>{0.00(8)}           | -  | Lake<br>-0.01(2)<br>{-(0)}                       | Pond<br>0.02(2)<br>{-(0)}                        | -   | -  |



*Figure 10.* CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes (mmol  $m^{-2} h^{-1}$ ) related to soil or water temperature (°C) under "normal" and "dry" conditions, respectively. Fluxes estimated with the linear mixed effects model (Tables 1 & 2 in Paper III) based on measured temperature ranges.

anaerobic wetland soil to the atmosphere (Frenzel & Rudolph 1998). Due to the  $CH_4$  channelling through the tissues of these plants,  $CH_4$  oxidation can be avoided because the pathway through the upper aerobic peat horizons is bypassed (Günther *et al.* 2013).

### Fluxes of CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> in 'dry' conditions

In 'dry' conditions, sites with typical wetland plants started to emit more  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  than under inundated conditions. The increase in  $CO_2$  fluxes from *Carex* spp. and *Thypha latifolia* during 'dry' conditions can be explained by the additional impact of the aerated soil and thus stimulated soil respiration that is otherwise hidden by the overlying water body. Furthermore, as the whole plant is above the surface water table under 'dry' conditions, the larger leaf area has an impact on plant-mediated  $CO_2$  respiration due to a higher photosynthesis rate. Higher soil temperatures also stimulate  $CH_4$  production (Schulz *et al.* 1997) and thus  $CH_4$  emissions can be increased (Bergström *et al.* 2007). Furthermore, if the roots are still in contact with  $CH_4$  depots in the anaerobic peat horizons, the plant-mediated  $CH_4$  flux to the atmosphere is still active (Frenzel & Rudolph 1998) even when the uppermost peat horizon is aerated.

### Fluxes of CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> in 'inundated' conditions

When all vegetation communities along the gradient were inundated, GHG fluxes to the atmosphere were reduced, even though CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes from the *Graminoids* and *Scirpus* spp. communities were somewhat higher due to available fresh organic material. Hahn-Schöfl *et al.* (2011) also found high CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from highly productive *Phalaris arundinacea* stands after rewetting a fen in Northern Germany. The frequent water level fluctuations in Västkärr can be seen as small rewetting events at the otherwise dry shore zone of a constructed shallow lake that may result in a change among vegetation communities under inundation, but also a re-change under drier conditions. All *Graminoids* at the Västkärr site would die off under longer lasting inundation, because they are not adapted for a life in standing water, and would simultaneously provide labile C for methanogenesis through input of labile C from the dying plant tissues (Hahn *et al.* 2015).

### Ratio of CH<sub>4</sub> to CO<sub>2</sub>

Once rewetting has created a new hydro-environment that may lead to a growing mire and to a C accumulation ecosystem, the GHG balance should be estimated. Expressed in  $CO_2$  mol-equivalents, the ratio of  $CH_4$  to  $CO_2$  fluxes to the atmosphere at the Porla site (Paper II) and the Västkärr site (Paper III) was

less than 3.9 and 1.1, respectively, for 90 % of all flux measurement pairs, less than 2.0 and 0.6, respectively, for 80% of pairs and less than 0.3 and 0.1, respectively, for 50 % of pairs, respectively. The overall climate impact of CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes to the atmosphere at both study sites was less than the impact of soil and plant respiration. Taking into consideration that Wilson et al. (2016a) found a negative GHG balance (net uptake) for Eriophorum angustifolium in a rewetted peatland, it can be speculated that CO<sub>2</sub> uptake by photosynthesis exceeds the GHG fluxes to the atmosphere in the Eriophorum angustifolium ecotope, which was the highest CH<sub>4</sub> emitter ecotope in Paper II. For restored peatlands in Canada, Strack et al. (2016) found a transition from sources to sinks of CO<sub>2</sub> with increasing vascular plant cover. Since the study site in Västkärr is characterised as fen without any bare peat surface, the vascular plant cover is much higher there than at Porla. This accounts for the higher ecosystem respiration (Figure 10) compared with the results in Paper II, but also suggests higher CO<sub>2</sub> uptake by photosynthesis. Due to the nutrient-rich status of the Västkärr peatland, higher CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes could be expected from there compared with the nutrient-poor Porla peatland (Paper II). However, the fluxes from the different vegetation communities in Västkärr were of the same magnitude as from the lake, the mire, the bare peat and the vadose Eriophorum vaginatum in Porla (Figures 6 & 7). Even CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes from Thypha latifolia under 'normal' (inundated) conditions were smaller than from Eriophorum angustifolium and phreatic Eriophorum vaginatum.

As also found by other authors (Rõõm *et al.* 2014, Wilson *et al.* 2016b), the results from the studies in Porla and Västkärr indicated that rewetted peatlands are very sensitive to inner- and inter-annual changes in weather conditions and thus may be a GHG sink in one year and a source in the next, e.g. if exposed to drought.

### Vial sampling strategy for CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O

Taking the first headspace air sample into a vial 5 min, 10 min or even later after chamber closure is not unusual (e.g. Liu *et al.* 2014) and offers the possibility to sample quasi-simultaneously with several chambers. This leads to a long extrapolation distance between chamber closure and the first air sample that affects the quality of the  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  flux estimates obtained because the centroid of the regression line is shifted to times where the assumption of an initial (quasi-)linear concentration increase is less valid. Thus, it is recommended to take the first air sample quickly after chamber closure (Rochette & Eriksen-Hamel 2008, Parkin & Venterea 2010, de Klein & Harvey (eds.) 2012). For that reason, the time schedule for vial sampling at the Västkärr study site was improved in 2014, with the first headspace air sample taken at 1 min after chamber closure.

## 5.3 Automated transparent and manual opaque chambers with continuous determination of CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> (Paper IV)

The studies reported in Papers II & III provided an overview of the sitespecific differences in GHG fluxes to the atmosphere between various ecotopes and vegetation communities, but they did not include diurnal patterns of the fluxes and uptake of  $CO_2$  by photosynthesis. The specific objective in Paper IV was to investigate some  $CO_2$  and  $CO_4$  flux dynamics during one summer from different ecosystems created after peatland rewetting (Porla) and to detect short-term events such as ebullition. Flux measurements with the automated transparent chambers also included the uptake of  $CO_2$  by photosynthesis.

5.3.1 CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from several ecotopes in the nutrient-poor Porla peatland during summer 2015

Several ecotopes along the shore of a constructed lake in a rewetted peatland (Porla) were investigated for GHG flux measurements during the summer 2015. The monthly net  $CO_2$  fluxes from the different ecotopes showed a typical pattern: CO<sub>2</sub> emissions were highest from the 'bare peat' and the 'bare peat with Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks' ecotopes. Actually, when measuring with transparent chambers, lower CO<sub>2</sub> emissions were expected from the 'bare peat with Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks' than from the 'bare peat', due to higher CO<sub>2</sub> uptake by photosynthesis. However, this proved not to be the case, which might be explained by autotrophic and heterotrophic respiration from the peat around the 'Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks'. Furthermore, the input of fresh organic matter, and thus its decomposition, can also lead to higher CO<sub>2</sub> emission rates (priming effect; Kuzyakov 2002). This might also explain the unexpectedly high CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from the 'water between Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks' in July and August. The 'Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks in water' and 'fresh Sphagnum spp. in water' indicated CO<sub>2</sub> uptake due to photosynthesis: the Sphagnum spp. site was a clear CO<sub>2</sub> sink in all three months, whereas the 'Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks in water' was a small CO<sub>2</sub> source in June (Figure 11) and July but a CO<sub>2</sub> sink in August. The CH<sub>4</sub> emissions were highest from the 'Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks in water' due to the plant-mediated CH<sub>4</sub> transport.

In Paper IV, the ecotopes in the water were not as homogeneous as the ecotopes in Paper II. The 'fresh *Sphagnum* spp. in water' ecotope may contain some young single *Eriophorum vaginatum* leaves and may be influenced by



*Figure 11.* Net emissions of  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  (g C-eq m<sup>-2</sup> month<sup>-1</sup>) from the five ecotopes in June 2015.

*Eriophorum vaginatum* roots as well. That would explain the higher  $CH_4$  emissions compared with the pure *Sphagnum* spp. sites in the 'mire' in Paper II, where plant-mediated  $CH_4$  transport was minimised due to the absence of vascular plants.

Only the 'bare peat' and the 'bare peat with *Eriophorum vaginatum* tussocks' consisted of a similar ecotope pattern in Papers II & IV and they were therefore comparable with each other. The 'fresh *Sphagnum* spp. in water' ecotope should not be compared with the (*Sphagnum*) 'mire' in Paper II due to their differences in formation: newly established *Sphagnum* spp. after rewetting compared with 'old' *Sphagnum* spp. in a growing mire. '*Eriophorum vaginatum* tussocks in water' were not found in such a dense cover in Paper II and thus neither was the 'water between *Eriophorum vaginatum* tussocks'. However, the average CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes (using the example of June 2015) for the ecotopes listed from left to right in Figure 11 would be 0.13, 0.26, 0.00, 0.14 and 1.27 mmol m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. They are thus within the range found in Paper II, even though nocturnal conditions were simulated when measuring with opaque chambers.

GHG emissions from the peatlands studied varied between years and their function ranged from sink to source and back. For the Porla study site, there was variation in  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  emissions between the three summer months, where the system was predominantly affected by net  $CO_2$  flux in June and July, while  $CH_4$  emissions dominated the fluxes in August. July received slightly

more precipitation than June and August and this might explain the decreased  $CO_2$  emissions from the 'bare peat' and the 'bare peat with *Eriophorum vaginatum* tussocks' ecotopes. As long as large areas of bare peat exist, ecosystem respiration may govern the GHG fluxes in a rewetted peatland.

Seventeen years after re-wetting, the *Sphagnum* spp. cover has increased on the loose peat shores of Lake A and B in Porla, but the surface area covered with *Sphagnum* spp. is still relatively small compared with the bare peat and *Eriophorum vaginatum* areas, and thus the ecosystem is still a net GHG emitter. The first signs of development of a C accumulation ecosystem are already there and the terrestrialisation of the water body with wetland plants, such as *Eriophorum* spp. and *Sphagnum* spp., is progressing well. Creating a C source by drainage is a fast process, but creating a C sink by rewetting may take decades.

#### 5.3.2 Visual inspection of short-term events: ebullition

Ebullition is a non-diffusive emission process that can be divided into steady and episodic ebullition (Lai 2009, Green & Baird 2013). Steady ebullition can often be constant enough to be correctly measured with discontinuous sampling (e.g. with vials) of headspace air during a chamber enclosure period < 60 min, but episodic ebullition, which is obviously non-constant over chamber enclosure, cannot easily be recorded by a vial sampling method. In Papers II & III, CH<sub>4</sub> was routinely determined by vial sampling at time intervals of 10 min. Thus, relatively short-term bubble emissions were integrated (masked) in relatively long-term averages of increasing headspace air concentration. Therefore, an initial CH<sub>4</sub> bubble probably generally resulted in strong underestimation of the real mean CH<sub>4</sub> emission flux, while an irregular series of single bubbles most likely resulted in different kinds of under- or over-estimation of the real mean CH<sub>4</sub> emission flux by the routine flux measurement method used. Observations of CH<sub>4</sub> headspace concentration, measured by infrared laser absorption with manual opaque chambers at the Porla study site, revealed that ebullition mostly occurred as a result of the shock caused by chamber closure on water-saturated soil and due to disturbances by the operator (Figure 12), or as an irregular series of single bubble emissions resulting in a step-like curvature of headspace concentration on a level high above the ambient concentration (Figures 13 & 14). In the Porla rewetted peatland, it was found that bubble ebullition often released CH<sub>4</sub> and  $CO_2$  simultaneously to the atmosphere (Figures 12-14), as reported previously for rice paddies by Komiya et al. (2015). Furthermore, the most striking finding was the similar CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> emission patterns (Figure 14).



*Figure 12.* Changes in  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$  concentrations (1-s values) in the headspace of a manual opaque chamber placed over *Eriophorum angustifolium* in the littoral zone of lake B on 27 August 2013.



*Figure 13.* Changes in  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$  concentrations (1-s values) in the headspace of a manual opaque chamber placed over *Eriophorum angustifolium* in the littoral zone of lake B on 27 August 2013.



*Figure 14.* Example of changes in  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$  concentrations (1-s values) in the headspace of a manual opaque chamber placed over *Eriophorum angustifolium* in the littoral zone of lake B on 28 June 2013.

Most often, vial samples are taken during the daytime. Thus, higher night time concentrations of both gases will be omitted. The next example illustrates the change in  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$  concentration for 234 consecutive measurements from a single chamber over the observation period of eight days (Figure 15). The  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$  concentrations followed a diurnal fluctuation cycle with higher concentrations for both gases occurring during night time and for  $CO_2$  in the morning. The concentration of the two gases was noticeably high before and at the time of chamber closure. The higher concentrations during the nights could be explained by boundary layer effects in plants and chamber frames, microscale cold air layers, and katabatic winds. Koskinen *et al.* (2014) had a similar observation for  $CO_2$ .  $CH_4$  (and  $CO_2$ ) ebullition peaks occurred unsystematically.

Therefore, high temporal resolutions of GHG fluxes are needed for providing complete data sets as a basis for discussions about ecosystems and their GHG emission impact in a changing climate, e.g. within the framework of national climate reporting. More research on ebullition from different peatland ecosystems and water bodies is needed.

If  $CH_4$  ebullition occurs, attention should also be given to  $CO_2$  since it has been shown that bubble ebullition often releases  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$  simultaneously. Furthermore,  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  emission patterns were often greatly similar and thus, similar criteria for ebullition detection might be used for both gases.



*Figure 15.* CH<sub>4</sub> concentration in 234 consecutive measurements (2807 measurement values) for one and the same chamber (2 min measuring time; 48 min break between each measurement); measured with a transparent automated chamber in an *Eriophorum vaginatum* inter-tussock (water) with some fresh *Sphagnum* spp. (3 to 11 July 2015). Note: Data for the first minute of chamber closure are not shown here.

If  $CO_2$  and  $CH_4$  are measured independently, e.g. with IRGA over a short chamber closure period and with vials over a longer chamber closure period, both measurement methods should be double-checked for ebullition. This could explain 'strange' emission patterns in each of the gases when combining their evaluation.

Episodic ebullition and how it is calculated are still insufficiently investigated, but it is likely that ebullition results in different forms of underor over-estimation of the real mean  $CH_4$  (and  $CO_2$ ) emission flux. This should be kept in mind when modelling GHG scenarios.

### 6 Conclusions and recommendations

Wetland restoration at the Porla and Västkärr sites was successful, as two functioning wetland ecosystems with stable hydrology have established after 17 years since rewetting and characteristic peatland vegetation have developed. This is an important prerequisite for new peat growth and a future C sink. In particular, *Sphagnum* spp. cover started to establish on the loose peat shores of the two lakes in Porla. Simultaneously, *Eriophorum angustifolium* has vanished from nutrient-poor parts but has expanded in nutrient-richer parts (formed by blocked drainage ditches). Thus restoration is meeting the goal of *Sphagnum* spp. accumulation, a possible first step towards natural mire conditions.

Lake construction may eventually result in a CH<sub>4</sub> hotspot in littoral zones, but the transition from extracted peatland to wetland ecosystem may reduce the overall climate warming impact. Establishment of vascular and pioneer plants, such as *Eriophorum* spp., *Carex* spp., *Typha* spp. and *Phragmites* spp. in the littoral zone and along the lake shore is essential in paving the way for other peatland vegetation. If the shallow lake develops into bog or poor fen with *Sphagnum* spp. as the main vegetation form, CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes to the atmosphere from vascular plants directly after rewetting would be balanced by CO<sub>2</sub> uptake some years after rewetting, even though *Sphagnum* spp. lawns emit some CH<sub>4</sub>. Furthermore, CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes to the atmosphere from ongoing peat extraction sites could be balanced by rewetting of abandoned sites. More data are now needed for water bodies in peatlands in general and for shallow lake ecosystems in rewetted peatlands in particular.

However, the overall climate impact of  $CH_4$  emissions from the study areas did in general not exceed the impact of soil and plant respiration (paper II & III) and neither the net  $CO_2$  flux in two of three months during summer 2015. But, GHG emissions could vary between years and sites can shift from sinks to sources. In regards to management of extracted peatlands, the construction of

shallow lakes showed great potential for lowering GHG fluxes to the atmosphere.

Anyway, rewetting should be seen as a balancing act between two faces: what is good for one environment, such as shaping new peatlands for C sinks, might be bad for another environment, such as peatland adjacent ecosystems that can suffer from (high) P leaching. The P eutrophication risk for associated aquatic ecosystems might be higher, especially in the first phase directly after rewetting, from rewetted former agricultural used peatlands as from extracted peatlands but this fact should keep in mind when planning to rewet a drained peatland for after-use issues. However, these impacts could change from an initial phase as the wetlands in the long-term perspective develop into mires.

Manual and automated closed chambers are a suitable method for measuring small-scale spatial variations of GHG fluxes to the atmosphere even though they have some impact to the soil-atmosphere-interface. Additionally, methods that to a lesser extent interfere with the measuring surface, such as open chambers, gradient methods or EC technique, could be employed. But here, other things, such as the loss of small-scale spatial variations or a power supply, have to be considered. With continuous measurements a derivation of long-term gas balances can be achieved and short-term changes in environmental conditions influencing GHG exchanges can be detected more effectively as with discontinuous measurements, such as by vial sampling. But still, a correct indication of all GHG fluxes, e.g. for GHG upscaling purposes or national emission inventories, is strongly based on the correct estimation of all C fluxes including ebullition.

### 7 Sammanfattning (Swedish summary)

Torvbruk för odlings- och energitorv har lång tradition i Nordeuropa och pågår på en täkt ofta under ca 20 år. Dränering genom dikning är oftast nödvändig och denna påverkar växthusgasbalansen genom genomluftning och ökad nedbrytning av torven och har även betydelse för denitrifikationen. Emissioner av koldioxid ( $CO_2$ ) och lustgas ( $N_2O$ ) ökar men metanemissionerna ( $CH_4$ ) kan minska.

Efter avslutad torvtäkt ska området föras över till annan användning och skogsproduktion eller våtmark är de två vanligaste efterbehandlingarna. Restaurering av torvbildningsmiljön till ny våtmark kan bidra till förbättrad biodiversitet, bidra i kollagring till fördel för minskad klimatändring och möjligen till ändrad vattenkvalitet. Sådan restaurering åstadkoms genom återvätning av det dränerade området och målet är att nå en fungerande våtmarkshydrologi. I förlängningen kan den nya miljön återskapa de för torvmarker vanliga processerna under anaeroba förhållanden, bli en lämplig miljö för torvmarksbildande vegetation och bilda en kolsänka.

Undersökningar om effekter av återvätning på växthusgasbalanser är fortfarande begränsad men det finns en del studier av våtmarker tidigare nyttjade inom jordbruket. I huvudsak kan sägas att återvätning minskar  $CO_2$ och N<sub>2</sub>O emissioner medan CH<sub>4</sub> emissionerna ökar. Det behövs mer studier av växthusgasemissioner från återvätta avslutade torvtäkter och från grunda sjöar omgivna av vegetationsbeklädda strandzoner, som visat sig vara betydande miljöer för utsläpp av växthusgaser. Därför startade undersökningar av växthusgaser i två torvmarker återvätta efter torvutvinning.

Från genomförda undersökningar i dessa två våtmarker visas hur ecotoper med varierande egenskaper påverkar emissioner och balanser av växthusgaser. Betydelsen av vattenförhållanden, temperatur och vegetation studerades med manuella mätningar i mörka kamrar och i ett automatiserat system med transparenta kamrar där såväl fotosyntes som emissioner kunde bestämmas. En stor variation mellan år noterades och det verkar som om  $CH_4$ emissionerna inte är större än  $CO_2$  flödena under sommaren. Tillskapandet av grunda sjöar visar på lägre utsläpp av växthusgaser till atmosfären. Vegetationstäckta vattenområden i strandzoner kan dock ha en stor betydelse med större emissioner. Nyttjandet av automatiska system med kontinuerliga mätningar adderar starkt till betydelsen av korttidsfluktuationer i inbindning och emissioner och har betydelse för balanserna även om den nuvarande rapporteringen av växthusgaser övergripande kan vara rimlig.

### References

- Alm, J.; Shurpali, N. J.; Minkkinen, K.; Aro, L.; Hytönen, J.; Laurila, T.; Lohila, A.; Maljanen, M.; Martikainen, P. J.; Mäkiranta, P.; Penttilä, T.; Saarnio, S.; Silvan, N.; Tuittila, E.-S. & Laine, J. (2007): Emission factors and there uncertainty for the exchange of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O in Finnish managed peatlands. *Boreal Environment Research* 12, 191-209.
- Augustin, J. & Joosten, H. (2007): Peatland rewetting and the greenhouse effect. *International Mire Conservation Group Newsletter*, Issue 2007/3, 29-30.
- Bastviken, D.; Cole, J.; Pace, M. & Tranvik, L. (2004): Methane emissions from lakes: Dependence of lake characteristics, two regional assessments, and a global estimate. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 18, Article GB4009.
- Bates, D. (2010): Ime4: *Mixed-effects modeling with R*. Chapter drafts, Ime4 Mixed-effects models project, R-forge. Online at: http://lme4.r-forge.r-project.org/lMMwR/lrgprt.pdf (accessed 2016-09-25).
- Bates, D.; Mächler, M.; Bolker, B. & Walker, S. (2015a): Lme4 Linear mixed-effects models using 'Eigen' and S4. R package, version 1.1-8 (2015-06-22). Online at: https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=lme4 (accessed 2016-09-25).
- Bates, D.; Mächler, M.; Bolker, B. & Walker, S. (2015b): Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 1-48. Online at: http://dx.doi.org/10.18637/ jss.v067.i01 (accessed 2016-09-25).
- Berglund, Ö.; Berglund K. & Klemedtsson, L. (2010): A lysimeter study on the effect of temperature on CO<sub>2</sub> emission from cultivated peat soils. *Geoderma* 154, 211-218.
- Bergström, I.; Mäkelä, S.; Kankaala, P.; Kortelainen, P. (2007): Methane efflux from littoral vegetation stands of southern boreal lakes: An upscaled regional estimate. *Atmospheric Environment* 41, 339-351.
- Blankenburg, J. & Tonnis, W. J. (eds.) (2004): Guidelines for wetland restoration of peat cutting areas - Results of the BRIDGE-PROJECT. Institute of Soil Technology, Geological Survey of Lower Saxony, Bremen.
- Blodau, C. (2002): Carbon cycling in peatlands A review of processes and controls. *Environmental Reviews* 10, 111-134.
- Blodau, C.; Roulet, N. T.; Heitmann, T.; Stewart, H.; Beer, J.; Lafleur, P. & Moore, T. R. (2007). Belowground carbon turnover in a temperate ombrotrophic bog. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 21, Article GB1021.

- Bragazza, L.; Freeman, C.; Jones, T.; Rydin, H.; Limpens, J.; Fenner, N.; Ellis, T.; Gerdol, R.; Hájek, M.; Hájek, T.; Iacumin, P.; Kutnar, L.; Tahvanainen, T. & Toberman, H. (2006). Atmospheric nitrogen deposition promotes carbon loss from peat bogs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103, 19386-19389.
- Bubier, J. L. (1995): The relationship of vegetation to methane emission and hydrochemical gradients in northern peatlands. *Journal of Ecology* 83, 403–420.
- Calvert, J. G. (1990): Glossary of atmospheric chemistry terms (recommendations 1990 of IUPAC Commission on Atmospheric Chemistry). *Pure and Applied Chemistry* 62, 2167-2219.
- Conrad, R. (1999). Contribution of hydrogen to methane production and control of hydrogen concentrations in methanogenic soils and sediments. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 28, 193-202.
- Couwenberg, J. (2009): *Methane emissions from peat soils (organic soils, histosols) Facts, MRV-ability, emission factors*. Wetlands International, Ede. Online at: https://www.wetlands.org/download/4809/ (accessed 2016-09-25).
- Couwenberg, J.; Thiele, A.; Tanneberger, F.; Augustin, J.; Bärisch, S.; Dubovik, D.;
   Liashchynskaya, N.; Michaelis, D.; Minke, M.; Skuratovich, A. & Joosten, H. (2011):
   Assessing greenhouse gas emissions from peatlands using vegetation as a proxy.
   Hydrobiologia 674, 67-89.
- Crawford, J. T.; Stanley, E. H.; Spawn, S. A.; Finlay, J. C.; Loken, L. C. & Striegl, R. G. (2014): Ebullitive methane emissions from oxygenated wetland streams. *Global Change Biology* 20, 3408–3422.
- Davidson, E. A.; Savage, K.; Verchot, L. V. & Navarro, R. (2002): Minimizing artifacts and biases in chamber-based measurements of soil respiration. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 113, 21-37.
- de Klein, C. A. M. & Harvey, M. J. (eds.) (2012): Nitrous oxide chamber methodology guidelines. Global Research Alliance on Agricultural Greenhouse Gases, Ministry for Primary Industries, Wellington, Version 1. Version 1.1 (2015) online at: http://globalresearchalliance.org/wpcontent/uploads/2015/11/Chamber\_Methodology\_Guidelines\_Final-V1.1-2015.pdf (accessed 2016-09-25).
- Duc, N. T.; Silverstein, S.; Lundmark, L.; Reyier, H.; Crill, P. & Bastviken, D. (2013): Automated flux chamber for investigating gas flux at water-air interfaces. *Environmental Science & Technology* 47, 968-975.
- Duddleston, K. N.; Kinneyet, M. A.; Kiene, R. P. & Hines, M. E. (2002). Anaerobic microbial biogeochemistry in a northern bog: Acetate as a dominant metabolic end product. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 16, Article 1063.
- Ferry, J. G. (1992). Methane from acetate. Journal of Bacteriology 174, 5489-5495.
- Fox, J. & Weisberg, S. (2011): Car Companion to Applied Regression. R package, version 2.0-26 (2015-08-06). Online at: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=car (accessed 2016-09-25).
- Franz, D.; Koebsch, F.; Larmanou, E.; Augustin, J. & Sachs, T. (2016): High net CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> release at a eutrophic shallow lake on a formerly drained fen. *Biogeosciences* 13, 3051-3070.

- Frenzel, P. & Rudolph, J. (1998): Methane emission from a wetland plant: the role of CH<sub>4</sub> oxidation in Eriophorum. *Plant and Soil* 202, 27-32.
- Fritz, C.; Pancotto, V. A.; Elzenga, J. T. M.; Visser, E. J. W.; Grootjans, A. P.; Pol, A.; Iturraspe, R.; Roelofs, J. G. M. & Smolders, A. J. P. (2011): Zero methane emission bogs: extreme rhizosphere oxygenation by cushion plants in Patagonia. *New Phytologist* 190, 398-408.
- Galambosi, B. & Jokela, K. (2008): Cultivation of herbs on Peatlands. In: Korhonen, R.; Korpela, L. & Sarkkola, S. (eds.), *Finland – Fenland, Research and sustainable utilisation of mires and peat*, Souseura (Finnish Peatland Society), o. O., 222-229.
- Galand, P. E.; Yrjälä, K. & Conrad, R. (2010). Stable carbon isotope fractionation during methanogenesis in three boreal peatland systems. *Biogeosciences* 7, 3893-3900.
- Gelbrecht, J. & Koppisch, D. (2001): Phosphor-Umsetzungsprozesse (Chemical reactions of phosphorus). In: Succow, M. & Joosten, H. (eds.), *Landschaftsökologische Moorkunde* (Landscape Ecology of Peatlands), second edition, Stuttgart, 24-26 (in German).
- Glatzel, S.; Forbrich, I.; Krüger, C.; Lemke, S. & Gerold, G. (2008). Small scale controls of greenhouse gas release under elevated N deposition rates in a restoring peat bog in NW Germany. *Biogeosciences* 5, 925-935.
- Gorham, E. (1991): Northern peatlands: Role in the carbon cycle and probable responses to climatic warming. *Ecological Applications* 1, 182-195.
- Göttlich, K. (1990): *Moor- und Torfkunde* (Peatland and peat science). Third edition, Stuttgart (in German).
- Green, S. M. & Baird, A. J. (2013): The importance of episodic ebullition methane losses from three peatland microhabitats: a controlled-environment study. *European Journal of Soil Science* 64, 27-36.
- Gries, S. T. (2012): Statistische Modellierung (Statistical modelling). Zeitschrift für germanistische Linguistik 40, 38-67.
- Günther, A.; Jurasinski, G.; Huth, V. & Glatzel, S. (2014): Opaque closed chambers underestimate methane fluxes of Phragmites australis (Cav.) Trin. ex Steud. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 186, 2151-2158.
- Hahn, J.; Köhler, S.; Glatzel, S. & Jurasinski, G. (2015): Methane Exchange in a Coastal Fen in the First Year after Flooding - A Systems Shift. *PLoS ONE 10*, Article e0140657.
- Hahn-Schöfl, M.; Zak, D.; Minke, M.; Gelbrecht, J.; Augustin, J. & Freibauer, A. (2011): Organic sediment formed during inundation of a degraded fen grassland emits large fluxes of CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>. *Biogeosciences* 8, 1539-1550.
- Hånell, B.; Lundin, L. & Magnusson, T. (2008): The peat resources in Sweden. In: Farrell, C. & Feehan, J. (eds.), *Proceedings of the 13<sup>th</sup> International Peat Congress*, Vol. 1, Jyväskylä.
- Heathwaite, A. L. & Göttlich, K. (1993). *Mires Process, Exploitation and Conservation*. Third edition, Chichester.
- Hiraishi, T.; Krug, T.; Tanabe, K.; Srivastava, N.; Baasansuren, J.; Fukuda, M. & Troxler, T. G. (eds.) (2014): 2013 Supplement to the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories: Wetlands. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Genève. Online at: http://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/wetlands/index.html (accessed 2016-09-25).
- Höper, H.; Augustin, J.; Cagampan, J. P.; Drösler, M.; Lundin, L.; Moors, E.; Vasander, H. Waddington, J. M. & Wilson, D. (2008): Restoration of peatlands and greenhouse gas

balances. In: Strack, M. (ed.), *Peatlands and climate change*, International Peat Society, Jyväskylä, 182-210.

- Horn, M. A.; Matthies, C.; Küsel, K.; Schramm, A. & Drake, H. L. (2003). Hydrogenotrophic Methanogenesis by Moderately Acid-Tolerant Methanogens of a Methane-Emitting Acidic Peat. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 69, 74-83.
- Hornibrook, E. R. C.; Bowes, H. L.; Culbert, A. & Gallego-Sala, A. V. (2009): Methanotrophy potential versus methane supply by pore water diffusion in peatlands. *Biogeosciences* 6, 1491-1504.
- Houghton, J. (1997). Global Warming: The complete briefing. Second edition, Cambridge.
- Hutchinson, G. L. & Livingston, G. P. (2001): Vents and seals in non-steady-state chambers used for measuring gas exchange between soil and the atmosphere. *European Journal of Soil Science* 52, 675-682.
- ICOS (2016): *Protocoll for chamber measurements of CO<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes.* Final draft. Integrated carbon observation system, o. O.
- ISO 4225 (1994): *Air quality General aspects Vocabulary*. Organisation internationale de normalisation, Vernier. (in French and English).
- IUPAC (2006): International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry, Compendium of Chemical Terminology (the "Gold Book"), compiled by McNaught, A. D. & Wilkinson, A., Oxford, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. 1997. On-line corrected version: http://goldbook.iupac.org (2006-2016) created by M. Nic, J. Jirat, B. Kosata; updates compiled by A. Jenkins. Online at: https://dx.doi.org/10.1351/ goldbook (accessed 2016-09-24).
- Jahn, M.; Sachs, T.; Mansfeldt, T. & Overesch, M. (2010). Global climate change and its impacts on the terrestrial Arctic carbon cycle with special regards to ecosystem components and the greenhouse-gas balance. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science* 173, 627-643.
- Joosten, H. & Clarke, D. (2002): Wise Use of Mires and Peatlands background and principles including a framework for decision-making. International Mire Conservation Group and International Peat Society, Totnes.
- Jordan, S.; Velty, S. and Zeitz, J. 2007. The influence of degree of peat decomposition on phosphorus binding forms in fens. *Mires and Peat* 2, Article 7.
- Jordan, S.; Lundin, L.; Strömgren, M.; Lode, E. & Nilsson, T. (2009): Peatland restoration in Sweden: From peat cutting areas to shallow lakes – after-use of industrial peat sites. *Peatlands International*, Issue 1/2009, 42-43.
- Juszczak, R. (2013): Biases in methane chamber measurements in peatlands. *International Agrophysics* 27, 159–168.
- Juutinen, S.; Alm, J.; Larmola, T.; Huttunen, J. T.; Morero, M.; Martikainen P. J. & Silvola J. (2003): Major implication of the littoral zone for methane release from boreal lakes. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 17, Article 1117, 28-1 to 28-11.
- Keller, J. K. & Bridgham, S. D. (2007). Pathways of anaerobic carbon cycling across an ombrotrophic-minerotrophic peatland gradient. *Limnolgy and Oceanography* 52, 96-107.
- Komiya, S.; Noborio, K.; Katano, K.; Pakoktom, T.; Siangliw, M. & Toojinda, T. (2015): Contribution of Ebullition to Methane and Carbon Dioxide Emission from Water between Plant Rows in a Tropical Rice Paddy Field. *International Scholarly Research Notices* 2015, Article 623901.

- Köppen, W. (1936): Das Geographische System der Klimate (The geographic system of the climates). In: Köppen, W. & Geiger, R. (eds.), *Handbuch der Klimatologie, Band 1: Allgemeine Klimalehre* (Handbook of Climatology, Volume 1: General Climatology), Berlin, C-1 to C-44 (in German).
- Koskinen, M.; Minkkinen, K.; Ojanen, P.; Kämäräinen, M.; Laurila, T. & Lohila A. (2014): Measurements of CO<sub>2</sub> exchange with an automated chamber system throughout the year: challenges in measuring night-time respiration on porous peat soil. *Biogeosciences* 11, 347-363.
- Kozlov, S. A.; Lundin, L. & Avetov, N. A. (2016): Plant cover development on two rewetted extracted peatlands restored to wetlands. *Mires and Peat* 18, Article 5.
- Kutzbach, L.; Schneider, J.; Sachs, T.; Giebels, M.; Nykänen, H.; Shurpali, N.J.; Martikainen, P.J.; Alm, J. & Wilmking, M. (2007): CO<sub>2</sub> flux determination by closed-chamber methods can be seriously biased by inappropriate application of linear regression. *Biogeosciences* 4, 1005-1025.
- Kuzyakov, Y. (2002): Review: Factors affecting rizosphere priming effects. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 165, 382-396.
- Lai, D. Y. F. (2009): Methane dynamics in northern peatlands: A review. *Pedosphere* 19, 409–421.
- Laiho, R. (2008): From a mire ecosystem to a drained peatland forest ecosystem. In: Korhonen, R.; Korpela, L. & Sarkkola, S. (eds.), *Finland – Fenland, Research and sustainable utilisation* of mires and peat, Souseura (Finnish Peatland Society), o. O., 152-157.
- Lantmäteriet (2014): *Kartor, flygbilder och ortnamn* (Maps, aerial photographs and place names). Swedish Land Survey (in Swedish and English). Online at: https://kso.etjanster.lantmateriet.se/ (accessed 2016-09-24).
- Larmola, T.; Tuittila, E.-S.; Tiirola, M.; Nykänen, H.; Martikainen, P. J.; Yrjälä, K.; Tuomivirta, T. & Fritze, H. (2010): The role of Sphagnum mosses in the methane cycling of a boreal mire. *Ecology* 91, 2356–2365.
- Le Mer, J. & Roger, P. (2001): Production, oxidation, emission and consumption of methane by soils: A review. *European Journal of Soil Biology* 37, 25–50.
- Limpens, J. & Berendse, F. (2003). How litter quality affects mass loss and N loss from decomposing Sphagnum. *Oikos* 103, 537-547.
- Limpens, J.; Heijmans, M. M. P. D, & Berendse, F. (2006): The nitrogen cycle in boreal peatlands. In: Wieder, R. K. & Vitt, D. H. (eds.), *Boreal Peatland Ecosystems*, 195-230.
- Limpens, J.; Berendse, F.; Blodau, C.; Canadell, J. G.; Freeman, C.; Holden, J.; Roulet, N.; Rydin, H. & Schaepman-Strub, G. (2008): Peatlands and the carbon cycle: from local processes to global implications – a synthesis. *Biogeosciences* 5, 1475–1491.
- Lode, E. (1999): *Wetland restauration: a survey of options for restoring peatlands*. Studia Forestalia Suecica 205, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala.
- Lundin, L. 1988. Impacts of drainage for forestry on runoff and water chemistry. Proc. of the int. symp. on the hydrology of wetlands in temperate and cold regions. Joensuu, Finland 6-8 June 1988, Publ. of the academy of Finland 1, 197-205.
- Lundin, L.; Lode, E.; Nilsson, T.; Strömgren, M.; Jordan, S. & Koslov, S. (2016): *Effekter vid* restaurering av avslutade torvtäkter genom återvätning; undersökningar vid Porla,

*Toftmossen och Västkärr* (Effects on restoration of terminated peat cuttings by rewetting; investigations at Porla, Toftmossen and Västkärr). Projektrapport 18, Stiftelsen Svensk Torvforskning, Johanneshov, 60 pp (in Swedish with English summary). Online at: http://www.torvforsk.se/PDF/RAPPORTER/Rapport\_restaruering\_nr18\_160608.pdf (accessed 2016-09-25).

- Mahmood, M. S. & Strack, M. (2011): Methane dynamics of recolonized cutover minerotrophic peatland: Implications for restoration. *Ecological Engineering* 37, 1859-1868.
- Mäkilä, M. & Goslar, T. (2008). The carbon dynamics of surface peat layers in southern and central boreal mires of Finland and Russian Karelia. Suo 59, 49-69.
- Maljanen, M.; Sigurdsson, B. D.; Guðmundsson, J.; Óskarsson, H.; Huttunen, J. T. & Martikainen, P. J. (2010): Greenhouse gas balances of managed peatlands in the Nordic countries – present knowledge and gaps. *Biogeosciences*, 7, 2711-2738.
- Mander, Ü.; Järveoja, J.; Maddison, M.; Soosaar, K.; Aavola, R.; Ostonen, I. and Salm, J.-O. (2012): Reed canary grass cultivation mitigates greenhouse gas emissions from abandoned peat extraction areas. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy* 4, 462–474.
- Marinier, M.; Glatzel, S. & Moore, T. R. (2004): The role of cotton-grass (Eriophorum vaginatum) in the exchange of CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> at two restored peatlands, eastern Canada. *Ecoscience* 11, 141-149.
- Miller, R. L. (2011): Carbon gas fluxes in re-established wetlands on organic soils differ relative to plant community and hydrology. *Wetlands* 31, 1055-1066.
- Minkkinen, K.; Byrne, K. A. & Trettin, C. (2008): Climate impacts of peatland forestry. In: Strack, M. (ed.), *Peatlands and climate change*, International Peat Society, Jyväskylä, Finland, 98-122.
- Mitsch, W. J. & Gosselink, J. G. (2000): Wetlands. Third edition, New York.
- Möller, D. (2003): *Luft Chemie, Physik, Biologie, Reinhaltung, Recht* (Air chemistry, physics, biology, air pollution control, law). Berlin, New York (in German).
- Myhre, G.; Shindell, D.; Bréon, F.-M.; Collins, W.; Fuglestvedt, J.; Huang, J.; Koch, D.;
  Lamarque, J.-F.; Lee, D.; Mendoza, B.; Nakajima, T.; Robock, A.; Stephens, G.; Takemura, T. & Zhang, H. (2013): Anthropogenic and natural radiative forcing. In: Stocker, T. F.; Qin, D.; Plattner, G.-K.; Tignor, M. M. B.; Allen, S. K.; Boschung, J.; Nauels, A.; Xia, Y.; Bex, V. & Midgley, P. M. (eds.), *Climate change 2013: The physical science basis. Working group I contribution to the fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, Cambridge, New York, 659-740.
- Nykänen, H.; Alm, J.; Lång, K.; Silvola, J. & Martikainen, P. J. (1995). Emissions of CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> from a virgin fen and a fen drained for grassland in Finland. *Journal of Biogeography* 22, 351-357.
- Päivänen, J. & Hånell, B. (2012): Peatland ecology and forestry a sound approach. University of Helsinki Department of Forest Sciences Publications 3, Helsinki.
- Parkin, T. B. & Venterea, R. T. (2010): USDA-ARS GRACEnet project protocols. Chapter 3. Chamber-based trace gas flux measurements. In: Follett, R.F. (ed.), *GRACEnet sampling protocols*, Agricultural Research Service, United States Department of Agriculture, Washington, 3-1 to 3-39. Online at: https://www.ars.usda.gov/SP2UserFiles/Program/212/

Chapter%203.%20GRACEnet%20Trace%20Gas%20Sampling%20Protocols.pdf (accessed 2016-09-24).

- Pirk, N.; Mastepanov, M.; Parmentier, F.-J. W.; Lund, M.; Crill, P. & Christensen, T. R. (2016): Calculations of automatic chamber flux measurements of methane and carbon dioxide using short time series of concentrations, *Biogeosciences* 13, 903-912.
- Pohlert, T. (2014): PMCMR Calculate Pairwise Multiple Comparisons of Mean Rank Sums. R package, Version 4.0 (2015-12-07). Online at: https://CRAN.R-project.org/ package=PMCMR (accessed 2016-01-28).
- Pohlert, T. (2016): The Pairwise Multiple Comparison of Mean Ranks Package (PMCMR). R package vignette. Online at: https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/PMCMR/vignettes/ PMCMR.pdf (accessed 2016-01-28).
- Pumpanen, J.; Longdoz, B. & Kutsch, W. L. (2010): Field measurements of soil respiration: principles and constraints, potentials and limitations of different methods. In: Kutsch, W. L.; Bahn, M. & Heinemeyer, A. (eds.), *Soil Carbon Dynamics - An Integrated Methodology*, Cambridge, 16–33.
- Quinty, F. & Rochefort, L. (1997): Plant reintroduction on a harvested peat bog. In: Trettin, C. C.; Jurgensen, M. F.; Grigal, D. F.; Gale, M. R. & Jeglum, J. K. (eds.), Northern forested wetlands: Ecology and management, Boca Raton, 133-145.
- Quinty, F. & Rochefort, L. (2003): *Peatland Restoration Guide*. Canadian Sphagnum Peat Moss Association and New Brunswick Department of Natural Resources and Energy, Québec, second edition. Online at: http://www.gret-perg.ulaval.ca/uploads/tx\_centrerecherche/ Peatland Restoration guide\_2ndEd\_01.pdf (accessed 2016-09-25).
- R Core Team (2015): R: *A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Wien. Online at: https://www.R-project.org/ (accessed 2016-09-24).
- Raab, B. & Vedin, H. (1995): Klimat, sjöar och vattendrag. Sveriges Nationalatlas (Climate, lakes and watercourses. Sweden's National Atlas). Stockholm (in Swedish).
- Reinikainen, O.; Pahkala, K. & Suominen, M. (2008): Reed canary grass on cut-away peatlands. In: Korhonen, R.; Korpela, L. & Sarkkola, S. (eds.), *Finland – Fenland, Research and sustainable utilisation of mires and peat*, Souseura (Finnish Peatland Society), o. O., 217-221.
- Renou, F.; Egan, T. & Wilson, D. (2006): Tomorrow's landscapes: studies in the after-uses of industrial cutaway peatlands in Ireland. Suo 57, 97–107.
- Rochefort, L.; Quinty, F.; Campeau, S.; Johnson, K. & Malterer, T. (2003): North American approach to the restoration of Sphagnum dominated Peatlands. *Wetlands Ecology and Management* 11, 3-20.
- Rochette, P. & Eriksen-Hamel, N. S. (2008): Chamber measurements of soil nitrous oxide flux: Are absolute values reliable? *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 72, 331-342.
- Rõõm, E.-I.; Nõges, P.; Feldmann, T.; Tuvikene, L.; Kisand, A.; Teearu, H. & Nõges, T. (2014): Years are not brothers: Two-year comparison of greenhouse gas fluxes in large shallow Lake Võrtsjärv, Estonia. Journal of Hydrology 519 B, 1594-1606.
- Sallantaus, T. 1989. Loading of watercourses due to peat mining. Peatland ecosystem and man an impact assessment, International Peat Society/Mires Research Group, Dundee.

- Sander, B. O. & Wassmann R. (2014) Common practices for manual greenhouse gas sampling in rice production: a literature study on sampling modalities of the closed chamber method. *Greenhouse Gas Measurement and Management* 4, 1-13.
- Schulz, S.; Matsuyama, H. & Conrad, R. (1997): Temperature dependence on methane production from different precursors in a profundal sediment (Lake Constance). *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 22, 207-213.
- Shurpali, N.; Hyvönen, N.; Huttunen, J.; Biasi, C.; Nykänen, H.; Pekkarinen, N. & Martikainen, P. (2008). Bare soil and reed canary grass ecosystem respiration in peat extraction sites in Eastern Finland. *Tellus* 60 B, 200-209.
- Silvan, N.; Tuittila, E.-S.; Kitunen, V.; Vasander, H. & Laine, J. (2005): Nitrate uptake by Eriophorum vaginatum controls N<sub>2</sub>O production in a restored peatland. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 37, 1519–1526.
- SLU (2016): Vattenkemiska analysmetoder (Waterchemical analyses methods). (In Swedish). Online at: http://www.slu.se/institutioner/vatten-miljo/laboratorier/vattenkemiskalaboratoriet/vattenkemiska-analysmetoder/ (accessed 2016-09-23).
- SMHI (2014): Sveriges meteorologiska och hydrologiska institut: SMHI LuftWebb (Sweden's meteorological and hydrological institute), RT-90-coordinates: 1433350-6545600 (in Swedish). Online at: http://luftwebb.smhi.se (accessed 2016-09-25).
- Strack, M. (ed.) (2008): Peatlands and climate change. International Peat Society, Jyväskylä.
- Strack, M.; Kellner, E. & Waddington J. M. (2005): Dynamics of biogenic gas bubbles in peat and their effects on peatland biogeochemistry. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 19, Article GB1003.
- Strack, M. & Zuback, Y. C. A. (2013): Annual carbon balance of a peatland 10 yr following restoration. *Biogeosciences* 10, 2885-2896.
- Strack, M.; Keith, A. M. & Xu, B. (2014): Growing season carbon dioxide and methane exchange at a restored peatland on the Western Boreal Plain. *Ecological Engineering* 64, 231-239.
- Strack, M.; Cagampan, J.; Hassanpour Fard, G.; Keith, A. M.; Nugent, K.; Rankin, T.; Robinson, C.; Strachan, I. B.; Waddington, J. M. & Xu, B. (2016): Controls on plot-scale growing season CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes in restored peatlands: Do they differ from unrestored and natural sites? *Mires and Peat* 17, Article 5.
- Tuittila, E.-S.; Komulainen, V.-M.; Vasander, H.; Nykänen, H.; Martikainen, P. J. & Laine, J. (2000): Methane dynamics of a restored cut-away peatland. *Global Change Biology* 6, 569-581.
- Vanselow-Algan, M.; Schmidt, S. R.; Greven, M.; Fiencke, C.; Kutzbach, L. & Pfeiffer, E.-M. (2015): High methane emissions dominated annual greenhouse gas balances 30 years after bog rewetting. *Biogeosciences* 12, 4361-4371.
- Vasander, H.; Tuittila, E.-S.; Lode, E.; Lundin, L.; Ilomets, M.; Sallantaus, T.; Heikkilä, R.; Pitkänen, M.-L. & Laine, J. (2003): Status and restoration of peatlands in northern Europe. *Wetlands Ecology and Management* 11, 51-63.
- Vasander, H. & Roderfeld, H. (1996): Restoration of peatlands after harvesting. In: Vasander H. (ed.), *Peatlands in Finland*, Finnish Peatland Society, Helsinki, 143-147.
- Velty, S.; Behrendt, A. & Zeitz, J. (2006): Natural wetland restoration and the use of municipal wastewater. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science* 169, 642-650.

- von Arnold, K.; Weslien, P.; Nilsson, M.; Svensson, B. H. & Klemedtsson, L. (2005). Fluxes of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O from drained coniferous forests on organic soils. *Forest Ecology and Management* 210, 239-254.
- Waddington, J. M.; Rochefort, L. & Campeau, S. (2003): Sphagnum production and decomposition in a restored cutover peatland. *Wetlands Ecology and Management* 11, 85-95.
- Waddington, J. M.; Strack, M. & Greenwood, M. J. (2010): Toward restoring the net carbon sink function of degraded peatlands: Short-term response in CO<sub>2</sub> exchange to ecosystem-scale restoration. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 115, Article G01008.
- Whalen, S. C. (2005): Biogeochemistry of methane exchange between natural wetlands and the atmosphere. *Environmental Engineering Science* 22, 73-94.
- Whiticar, M. J.; Faber, E. & Schoell M. (1986). Biogenic methane formation in marine and freshwater environments: CO, reduction vs. acetate fermentation-Isotope evidence. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 50, 693-709.
- Wilson, D.; Tuittila, E.-S.; Alm, J.; Laine, J.; Farrell, E. P. & Byrne K. A. (2007): Carbon dioxide dynamics of a restored maritime peatland. *Ecoscience* 14, 71-80.
- Wilson, D.; Alm, J.; Laine, J.; Byrne, K. A.; Farrell, E. P. & Tuittila, E.-S. (2009): Rewetting of cutaway peatlands: Are we re-creating hot spots of methane emissions? *Restoration Ecology* 17, 796-806.
- Wilson, D.; Farrell, C.; Mueller, C.; Hepp, S. & Renou-Wilson, F. (2013): Rewetted industrial cutaway peatlands in western Ireland: a prime location for climate change mitigation? *Mires* and Peat 11, Article 1.
- Wilson, D.; Farrell, C. A.; Fallon, D.; Moser, G.; Müller, C. & Renou-Wilson, F. (2016a):
  Multiyear greenhouse gas balances at a rewetted temperate peatland. *Global Change Biology*,
  Early View. Online at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13325 (accessed 2016-09-24).
- Wilson, D.; Blain, D.; Couwenberg, J.; Evans, C.D.; Murdiyarso, D.; Page, S.E.; Renou-Wilson, F.; Rieley, J. O.; Sirin, A.; Strack, M. & Tuittila, E.-S. (2016b): Greenhouse gas emission factors associated with rewetting of organic soils. *Mires and Peat* 17, Article 4.
- Winter, B. (2013): Linear models and linear mixed effects models in R with linguistic applications. arXiv:1308.5499. Online at: http://arxiv.org/pdf/1308.5499.pdf (accessed 2016-09-25).
- Yu, Z.; Slater, L. D.; Schäfer, K. V. R.; Reeve, A. S. & Varner, R. K. (2014): Dynamics of methane ebullition from a peat monolith revealed from a dynamic flux chamber system. Journal of Geophysical Research: *Biogeosciences* 119, 1789–1806.
- Zak, D.; Gelbrecht, J. & Steinberg, C.E.W. (2004): Phosphorus retention at the redox interface of peatlands adjacent to surface waters in northeast Germany. Biogeochemistry 70, 357-368.
- Zak, D.; Gelbrecht, J.; Wagner, C.; Steinberg, C.E.W. 2008. Evaluation of phosphorus mobilization potential in rewetted fens by an improved sequential chemical extraction procedure. *European Journal of Soil Science* 59, 1191–1201.
- Zeitz, J. & Velty, S. (2002): Soil properties of drained and rewetted fen soils. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science* 165, 618-626.

### Acknowledgements

This PhD project was carried out at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU) with financial support from the Swedish Energy Agency, the Swedish Peat Research Foundation and the Department of Soil and Environment (SLU). The field sites were provided by Neova AB and the land-owner Sveaskog forest AB. Big thanks to all. Thanks to the department for providing me with postgraduate education.

Uff, what a challenge with 5 supervisors! In the end you made this project a round thing. Warm thanks to you all.

*Lars Lundin* for hiring me for this PhD position and for showing me the beauty of the Swedish mires and peatlands. I am very happy that I received more than just one piece from your huge knowledge of peatlands. Thank you for being around even though when you were abroad. Thank you for the *laissez-faire* and for believing in me.

*Monika Strömgren*, thank you for always being there. From the time before I started as a PhD student (e.g. for paying the *köavgift* that was needed to be on the long list among hundreds of other apartment-hunters), during the years with long days out in the peatlands and in the barn when we built-up the caravan with the automated chamber system, for journeys and excursions with so much fun, for your prompt help whenever I was in trouble and for your big efforts especially during the last months of my PhD time even though you had left SLU. Thank you and your family for taking care of Anne and Lennart when I was at fieldwork during Jan's time abroad. Thank you for speaking Swedish to me all the time!

*Elve Lode* for being my room-mate and my "surrogate mother" here in Sweden. I enjoyed an incredible time with you filled with constructive discussions, laughter and joy. Thanks for pushing me and always being available for a chat. Thank you for always asking how I feel.

*Torbjörn Nilsson*, thank you for your wise ideas and instant help whenever I asked. With your innate calmness you have been essential during all the meetings with quick temper. It is a good feeling having you in the room next to me.

*Jutta Zeitz*, thank you for all the support since the very beginning when I was a student researcher in your soil science group in Berlin. You and *Horst* (*"Horschte"*) *Lehrkamp* made me want to be a peatland scientist and a real "Moorschweinchen".

Thanks to all the *field workers*: *Linnea Hedlöf Ekvall*, *Heike Lotsch*, *Monika*, *Torbjörn*, *Elve*, *Lars*, *Jan Fiedler* and *Anja Körle*. Special thanks to *Elve* and *Jan* for their help during night measurements and their resilience in the close fight against the mosquitos.

Sten-Ove Pettersson and Lotta Pettersson are acknowledged for their field observations and water proof samplings over more than 15 years. Jan (Janne) Parsby and Monika for all the installations around the automated chamber system, here in Uppsala during long and cold winter days and in Porla. Birger for all electric installations in the middle of nowhere. Special thanks to our local stand-by duty Lotta Pettersson who promptly looked after the caravan and the chambers when big trouble was observed via the remote enquiry.

Thanks to the former and present soil lab crew at SLU for helping with the analyses and for very much appreciated non-scientific related talks around the fika bord: *Mirsada (Mia) Kulenovic, Gunilla Bergvall, Margareta Sundgren, Ann-Christine (Anki) Jansson, Kenth Andersson, Niclas Kling, Roger Lindberg, Kjell Larsson, Anne-Marie Karlson, Inger Juremalm, Anne Wiklander* and Zahra Navidi.

Warm thanks to *Mats Olsson*, the man with the spade, who supported me as a young scientist and involved me in other peat related projects where I met many people keen to debate such as *Johnny de Jong. Johnny*, I very appreciated your positive thinking and the way how you have held our group together. I will always remember your words just before the end of each meeting: "Är vi nöjda?"

I thank *Anke Herrmann*, *Claes Rülcker* and *Sergei Kozlov* and for fruitful discussions about organic matter, peat and politics.

Örjan Berglund and Anna Mårtensson are very much acknowledged for their improvements on the thesis and Sebastian Hess and Claudia von Brömssen for improvements in R.

Thanks to past and present PhDs, especially *Martin Rappe George, Kristina Mjöfors, Linnea Hansson, Carina Ortiz* and *Johan Iwald* from the *skoglig marklära* but also to all the other PhDs in the department for nice chats and

valuable comments. I very much acknowledge *Lisbet Norberg* and *Katrin Rychel* for discussions about GHGs, GC troubleshooting and language help.

Mary McAfee was always super-fast in proof-reading. Big thanks!

*Erik Karltun, Lisbet Lewan, Hans-Örjan Nohrstedt* and *Håkan Marstorp* are acknowledged for involving me as a PhD student representative in the Board of post-graduate studies and in the steering committee of the department. *Kristina (Ninna) Lindström, Pia Edfeld, Anne Olsson, Anna Wennberg* and *Åsa Brorsson* helped with all the administrative work – thank you so much. My computer was well maintained by *Ragnar Persson* and *Håkan Karlsson*. Thank you for spontaneous help.

I am very grateful to all the friends and neighbours for sharing a life outside SLU and for being a home for Anne and Lennart. Special thanks to *Helena*, *Shahin, Kristine, Kristina, Alex, Mia, Anita, Jazek, Emma, Micke, Caro, Knut, Constanze, Sebastian, Elke, Volkmar, Bettina, Marcel, Diana, Jan, Katarina, Martin, Sarah* and *Matthew* and all their children.

Nicht zuletzt möchte ich meinen Freunden und meiner Familie danken, die mir über die lange räumliche und zeitliche Distanz "die Stange gehalten" und mich auf jede erdenkliche Weise unterstützt haben. Mam und Omi, auch wenn Ihr uns gern in Eurer Nähe sehen würdet, so wisst Ihr doch, dass es uns hier gut geht. Opa, auch wenn ich es nicht mehr geschafft habe, Dich noch einmal zu sehen, so bin ich Dir sehr dankbar für wunderbare Sommerferien mit abenteuerlichen Radfahrten rund um den Quirlbusch und für stundenlanges Schach spielen. Karin und Lutz, Danke für ein back-up in allen Lebenslagen und für wertvolle wissenschaftliche Diskussionen.

Lieber Jan, diese Arbeit wäre ohne Deine Unterstützung eine ganz andere geworden. Du hast mich durch Deine Diskussionsfreudigkeit, Dein konstruktives Denken und Deinen klugen Kopf zum kritischen Hinterfragen erzogen. Dafür bin ich Dir sehr dankbar. Danke für Deinen persönlichen Einsatz und die stundenlangen "Fachgespräche", selbst unter Vernachlässigung Deiner eigenen persönlichen Interessen. Danke, dass Du mit uns nach Schweden gekommen bist!

Liebe Anne, lieber Lennart, Ihr seid einfach wunderbar! Danke für Euer "Mitmachen" und den Mut, selbständig anzupacken.